
Hamilton County Board of County Commissioners

Commissioner Fairbanks

AGENDA September 16, 2015

ROLL CALL

INVOCATION -

PLEDGE TO THE FLAG - Commissioner Fairbanks

Presentation Miracle League of Chattanooga - Kim Chapman. Agenda Session only - September 9, 2015.
Commissioner Bankston

Minutes Recessed Meeting - August 26, 2015

Minutes Agenda Session - August 26, 2015

Minutes Regular Meeting - September 2, 2015

Report Order of Designation Planning Commission - Todd Leamon - September 14, 2015

Res. No. 915-21 A Resolution to approve and accept applications for notary public positions, the bonds and oaths
of notaries previously elected, the oaths of Deputy County Clerks,  the oath of Deputy Sheriff,
and the oath of Chairman and Chairman Pro Tempore of the Hamilton County Board of
Commissioners.

Res. No. 915-22A A Resolution granting the approval of a special permit for an aircraft landing strip per Article VI,
Section 402, on a tract of land located at 2380 Retro Hughes Road.

Res. No. 915-22B A Resolution granting the approval of a special permit for an aircraft landing strip per Article VI,
Section 402, on a tract of land located at 2380 Retro Hughes Road.

Res. No. 915-22C A Resolution granting the approval of a Special Permit for an aircraft landing strip per Article VI,
Section 402, on a tract of land located at 2380 Retro Hughes Road.

Res. No. 915-23 A Resolution making an appropriation to Dallas Bay Volunteer Fire Department in the amount of
five thousand dollars ($5,000.00) from General Fund discretionary monies, as allotted to District
One.

Res. No. 915-24 A Resolution making an appropriation to Orange Grove Center in the amount of ten thousand
dollars ($10,000.00) from General Fund discretionary monies, as allotted to District One.

Res. No. 915-25 A Resolution making an appropriation to Mowbray Volunteer Fire Departrment in the amount of
thirteen thousand dollars ($13,000.00) from General Fund discretionary monies, as allotted to
District One.

Res. No. 915-26 A Resolution making an appropriation to East Lake Neighborhood Association in the amount of
One Thousand Eight Hundred Dollars ($1,800.00) from General Fund discretionary monies, as
allotted to District Four.

Res. No. 915-27 A Resolution making an appropriation to Veterans Memorial Park of Collegedale in the amount
of Ten Thousand Dollars ($10,000.00) from General Fund discretionary monies, as allotted to
District Seven.

Res. No. 915-28 A Resolution making an appropriation to The Next Door, Inc., in the amount of One Thousand
Dollars ($1,000.00) from General Fund discretionary monies, as allotted to District Nine.

Res. No. 915-29 A Resolution to authorize the County Mayor to award five (5) days of paid leave for the purpose
of encouraging all Hamilton County employees to participate in the United Way campaign
through payroll deduction.

Res. No. 915-30 A Resolution adopting by reference the updated National Flood Insurance Program (NFIP),
Flood Insurance Rate Maps (FIRM) for unincorporated Hamilton County, Tennessee.

Res. No. 915-31 A Resolution approving the amending of a certain Payment In Lieu of Taxes (PILOT) agreement
with Alstom Power, Inc.

Res. No. 915-32 A Resolution authorizing the County Mayor to sign a contract in the amount of $32,600 with the
Scenic Cities Beautiful Commission to provide litter prevention education services with a
contract period beginning July 01, 2015 and ending June 30, 2016.



Res. No. 915-33 A Resolution accepting the bids of Henry Schein, Inc., Midwest Medical Supply Company, LLC
(MMS), Scientific Sales, Inc. and Quadmed for one (1) year contract pricing, beginning
September 16, 2015, through September 15, 2016, for EMS/hi-risk medical gloves and
bloodborne pathogen personal protection equipment for Emergency Medical Services and
authorizing the County Mayor to sign any contracts necessary to implement this Resolution.

Res. No. 915-34 A Resolution accepting the return to the fund balance of the Hamilton County General Fund of
the One Hundred Thousand Dollar ($100,000.00) appropriation for discretionary spending as
previously allotted to County Commission District Six, and authorizing the receipt of same.

ANNOUNCEMENTS

DELEGATIONS ON MATTERS OTHER THAN ZONING

Any invocation that may be offered before the official start of the Commission
meeting shall be the voluntary offering of a private citizen, to and for the
benefit of the Commission.  The views or beliefs expressed by the invocation
speaker have not been previously reviewed or approved by the Commission
and do not necessarily represent the religious beliefs or views of the
Commission in part or as a whole.  No member of the community is required to
attend or participate in the invocation and such decision will have no impact on
their right to actively participate in the business of the Commission.



RECESSED MEETING 
HAMILTON COUNTY BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

AUGUST 26, 2015 
 

1 
 

STATE OF TENNESSEE  )  Recessed Meeting 

COUNTY OF HAMILTON  )  August 26, 2015 

 

 BE IT REMEMBERED, that on this 26th day of August, 2015, a Recessed 

Meeting of the Hamilton County Board of Commissioners was begun and held at the 

Courthouse, in the City of Chattanooga, in the County Commission Room, when the 

following proceedings were held, to wit:-- 

 

 Present and presiding was the Honorable Jim Fields, Chairman, County Clerk Bill 

Knowles called the roll of the County Commission and the following, constituting a 

quorum, answered to their names:  Commissioner Bankston, Commissioner Beck, 

Commissioner Boyd, Commissioner Fairbanks, Commissioner Graham, Commissioner 

Haynes, Commissioner Mackey, Commissioner Smedley, and Chairman Fields. Total 

present – 9.  Total absent -0. 

 

 Also in attendance were County Mayor Jim Coppinger, members of his 

administrative staff, County Attorney Rheubin Taylor, and County Auditor Bill McGriff. 

 

 Commissioner Smedley introduced County Clerk Bill Knowles who gave the 

invocation. Commissioner Smedley led in the pledge to the flag. 

 

 



RECESSED MEETING 
HAMILTON COUNTY BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

AUGUST 26, 2015 
 

2 
 

Chairman Fields announced that there was not any scheduled business for the 

Recessed Meeting and asked if anyone had any announcements. 

 

 Being no further business Chairman Fields declared the recessed meeting 

adjourned. 

 

 

     Respectfully submitted: 

      

     ______________________________ 
     William F. (Bill) Knowles, County Clerk 
 

 

Approved: 
 
 
______ 
Date  Clerk’s Initials 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
AGENDA PREPARATION SESSION 

AUGUST 26, 2015 
 
 

 1

STATE OF TENNESSEE  )  Agenda Preparation Session 

COUNTY OF HAMILTON  )  August 26, 2015 

 

BE IT REMEMBERED, that on this 26th day of August, 2015, an Agenda 

Preparation Session of the Hamilton County Board of Commissioners was begun and 

held at the Courthouse, in the City of Chattanooga, in the County Commission Room, 

when the following proceedings were held, to wit:-- 

 

Present and presiding was the Honorable Jim Fields, Chairman. County Clerk Bill 

Knowles called the roll of the County Commission and the following, constituting a 

quorum, answered to their names:  Commissioner Bankston, Commissioner Beck, 

Commissioner Boyd, Commissioner Fairbanks, Commissioner Graham, Commissioner 

Haynes, Commissioner Mackey, Commissioner Smedley, and Chairman Fields.  Total 

present - 9.  Total absent – 0. 

 

Also in attendance were County Mayor Jim Coppinger, members of his 

administrative staff, County Attorney Rheubin Taylor, and County Auditor Bill McGriff. 

 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
AGENDA PREPARATION SESSION 

AUGUST 26, 2015 
 
 

 2

COMMITTEE ASSIGNMENTS 

 

Chairman Fields indicated the upcoming agenda items would be considered as 

follows: 

 The Criminal Court Clerk report for June 2015 would be submitted for the record.  
 The Trustee Monthly and Excess Fee reports for July 2015 would be submitted 

as a matter of record.  
 The Juvenile Court Clerk’s report for June 2015 would be submitted for the 

record.   
 Resolution No. 915-1 was the usual County Clerk item regarding notaries, etc.  

This required no committee assignment. 
 Resolution Nos. 915-2 through 915-4, and 915-12 through 915-19 were assigned 

to the Finance Committee, chaired by Commissioner Graham. 
 Resolution No. 915-8 was not used.  
 Resolution Nos. 915-5 through 915-7, 915-9 through 915-11, and 915-20 were 

heard by a Committee of the Whole. 
 

Chairman Fields stated that Resolution Nos. Resolution Nos. 915-5 through 915-

7, 915-9 through 915-11, and 915-20 would now be heard by the Committee of the 

Whole. 

 

COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE – RESOLUTION NO. 915-5 

 

Commissioner Graham spoke regarding this Resolution, which approves the 

expenditure of $12,500.00 from general fund discretionary monies as allotted to District 

6, to assist the Town of Lookout Mountain with the renovation of their pavilion and picnic 

area.  



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
AGENDA PREPARATION SESSION 

AUGUST 26, 2015 
 
 

 3

There were no questions from Commissioners.  

 

COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE – RESOLUTION NO. 915-6 

 

Chairman Fields spoke regarding this Resolution, which approves the 

expenditure of $6,027.00 from discretionary bond funds, as allotted to District 2, to 

assist with the cost of a parking lot for the indoor batting facility at Shackleford Ridge 

County Park. Chairman Fields noted that the batting facility is used by Signal Mountain 

Middle/High School and area recreational teams.   

  

There were no questions from Commissioners.  

 

COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE – RESOLUTION NO. 915-7 

  

 Chairman Fields spoke regarding this Resolution, which approves the 

expenditure of $4,960.00 from discretionary bond funds, as allotted to District 2, to 

assist with a ceiling replacement at the McCoy farmhouse, property owned by the Town 

of Walden. It was stated that the property was donated to the Town by the McCoy 

Family, and is currently used for community recreation.  

 

There were no questions from Commissioners. 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
AGENDA PREPARATION SESSION 

AUGUST 26, 2015 
 
 

 4

COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE – RESOLUTION NO. 915-9 

  

Commissioner Beck spoke regarding this Resolution, which approves making an 

appropriation to Girls Incorporated of Chattanooga in the amount of $2,500.00 from 

general fund discretionary monies, as allotted to District 5. The funding will assist the 

nonprofit organization with summer camp scholarships.  

 

There were no questions from Commissioners. 

 

COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE – RESOLUTION NO. 915-10 

 

Commissioner Boyd spoke regarding this Resolution, which approves making an 

appropriation to Chattanooga Ballet, Inc. in the amount of $1,750.00 from general fund 

discretionary monies, as allotted to District 8. The funding will assist the nonprofit in 

replacing costumes for the Nutcracker Ballet. Commissioner Boyd reported that the 

Nutcracker Ballet has a positive seasonal impact on downtown Chattanooga. In closing, 

he added that private donors will match every dollar that is donated to the Ballet.  

 

There were no questions from Commissioners. 

 

 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
AGENDA PREPARATION SESSION 

AUGUST 26, 2015 
 
 

 5

COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE – RESOLUTION NO. 915-11 

 

 Commissioner Boyd spoke regarding this Resolution, which approves making an 

appropriation to Sculpture Fields at Montague Park in the amount of $6,000.00 from 

general fund discretionary monies, as allotted to District 8. The funding will assist with 

the purchase of materials for a sculpture commemorating the servicemen who lost their 

lives on July 16, 2015, at the Naval Reserve Center on Amnicola Highway in 

Chattanooga. Commissioner Boyd added that he would  be teaming with Commissioner 

Mackey on the project. In closing, he noted that the sculpture would be over 65-feet tall 

and would be erected in early September.  

 

 There were no questions from Commissioners.  

 

COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE – RESOLUTION NO. 915-20 

 

 Mayor Coppinger spoke regarding this Resolution, which adopts those powers 

granted to Tennessee Counties pursuant to Tennessee Code Annotated Section 5-1-

118, et seq., also known as the County General Powers Act, and authorizes Hamilton 

County to exercise certain powers granted to municipalities pursuant to Tennessee 

Code Annotated Sections 6-2-201 (22) and (23) with respect to the regulation of 

nuisances and other practices detrimental to the inhabitants of the County. He 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
AGENDA PREPARATION SESSION 

AUGUST 26, 2015 
 
 

 6

explained that the County General Powers Act gives more power to inspectors who 

respond to complaints of overgrown yards, inoperable vehicles, etc. In closing, he noted 

that this would empower the Health and Safety Hearing Board to be able to enforce 

rules and regulations without delay.  

 

 County Attorney Rheubin Taylor added that the General Powers Act applies to 

zoning ordinances as well, and that a two-thirds majority vote is required to adopt the 

Resolution.  

 

 Several Commissioners voiced their support for this Resolution. They thanked 

Mayor Coppinger and Attorney Taylor for bringing this item before the Commission.  

 

 In response to Commissioner Haynes question, Attorney Taylor clarified that the 

regulations will go into effect immediately after adoption of the Resolution.  

 

There were no further questions or comments from Commissioners.  

 

Commissioner Graham, Chairman of the Finance Committee announced that the 

Finance Committee would be meeting in the Commission Room immediately following 

the Agenda Session. 

 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
AGENDA PREPARATION SESSION 

AUGUST 26, 2015 
 
 

 7

ANNOUNCEMENTS 

 

Chairman Fields asked for announcements from members of the Commission.  

 

Commissioner Haynes announced the birth of his grandson, William Manning 

Haynes.  

 

Commissioner Haynes also spoke about meeting with Joe Smith, founder and 

director of the YCAP boxing league, Jabbin’ for Jesus, and Gary Haskew, co-host of 

SportsTalk Radio WGOW 102.3 FM. Two young men from the boxing league recently 

won the world championship in Kansas City, MO, and will now represent Chattanooga 

in the Olympic trials in Philadelphia, PA September 7th through 12th. Commissioner 

Haynes spoke about assisting in fundraising efforts for the young men, and issued a 

challenge to fellow Commissioners to participate as well.  

 

Several Commissioners congratulated Commissioner Haynes on the birth of his 

grandson.  

 

Mayor Coppinger reminded the Commission about an employee benefits meeting 

taking place immediately after the Agenda Session in the Mayor’s conference room. 

 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
AGENDA PREPARATION SESSION 

AUGUST 26, 2015 
 
 

 8

DELEGATIONS 

 

Chairman Fields asked for delegations on matters other than zoning. There were 

none. 

 

Being no further business, Chairman Fields declared the meeting adjourned until 

Wednesday, September 2nd at 9:30 AM. 

 

 

Respectfully submitted: 

      

      _________________________________   
      William F. (Bill) Knowles, County Clerk 
Approved: 
           

________   
Date      Clerk’s Initials 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 
SEPTEMBER 2, 2015 

 

 1

STATE OF TENNESSEE  )  Regular Meeting 

COUNTY OF HAMILTON  )  September 2, 2015 

 

BE IT REMEMBERED, that on this 2nd day of September, 2015, a Regular 

Meeting of the Hamilton County Board of Commissioners was begun and held at the 

Courthouse, in the City of Chattanooga, in the County Commission Room, when the 

following proceedings were held, to wit:-- 

 

Present and presiding was the Honorable Jim Fields, Chairman. County Clerk Bill 

Knowles called the roll of the County Commission and the following, constituting a 

quorum, answered to their names: Commissioner Bankston, Commissioner Beck, 

Commissioner Boyd, Commissioner Fairbanks, Commissioner Graham, Commissioner 

Haynes, Commissioner Mackey, Commissioner Smedley, and Chairman Fields. Total 

present – 9. Total absent – 0. 

 

Also in attendance were County Mayor Jim Coppinger, members of his  

administrative staff, County Attorney Rheubin Taylor, and County Auditor Bill McGriff. 

 

Attached hereto is a copy of the Public Notice of this meeting, which was 

published in a local newspaper and made a matter of record of this meeting. 

 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 
SEPTEMBER 2, 2015 

 

 2

Commissioner Fairbanks introduced Pastor Joey Harris, Harmony Baptist 

Church, who gave the invocation. Commissioner Fairbanks led in the pledge to the flag. 

 

ELECTION OF CHAIRMAN AND CHAIRMAN PRO TEMPORE OF THE HAMILTON 

COUNTY BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

 

Chairman Fields stated that the floor was open for nominations to elect a 

Chairman for the ensuing year. 

 

 Commissioner Graham nominated Commissioner Fields to serve as Chairman.   

 

 Commissioner Boyd nominated Commissioner Bankston to serve as Chairman.   

 

 Chairman Fields asked if there were other nominations. There were none. 

 

County Clerk Bill Knowles called the roll on the nomination of Chester Bankston 

and Jim Fields to serve as Commission Chairman.  Commissioners voted as follows:  

Commissioner Bankston, “Chester Bankston”; Commissioner Beck, “Jim Fields”; 

Commissioner Boyd, “Chester Bankston”; Commissioner Fairbanks, “Chester 

Bankston”; Commissioner Fields, “Jim Fields”; Commissioner Graham, “Jim Fields”; 

Commissioner Haynes, “Chester Bankston”; Commissioner Mackey, “Jim Fields”; and 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 
SEPTEMBER 2, 2015 

 

 3

Commissioner Smedley, “Chester Bankston”. Total present – 9.  Total absent – 0.  Total 

votes for Chester Bankston – 5.  Total votes for Jim Fields – 4.   

 

OATH OF OFFICE FOR CHAIRMAN OF THE HAMILTON COUNTY BOARD OF 

COMMISSIONERS 

 

Clerk Knowles administered the Oath of Office to Commissioner Bankston who 

was elected Chairman for the ensuing year. 

 

 Chairman Bankston took the seat as Chairman at this time.  He thanked the 

Commission for their support and stated he looked forward to serving in this capacity. 

 

Chairman Bankston opened the floor for nominations for Chairman Pro Tempore. 

 

 Commissioner Haynes nominated Commissioner Fairbanks to serve as 

Chairman Pro Tempore.   

 

Commissioner Mackey nominated Commissioner Graham to serve as Chairman 

Pro Tempore.   

 

 Chairman Bankston asked if there were other nominations. There were none. 

 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 
SEPTEMBER 2, 2015 

 

 4

 County Clerk Bill Knowles called the roll on the nomination of Randy Fairbanks 

and Joe Graham to serve as Commission Chairman Pro Tempore.  Commissioners 

voted as follows:  Commissioner Beck, “Joe Graham”; Commissioner Boyd, “Randy 

Fairbanks”; Commissioner Fairbanks, “Randy Fairbanks”; Commissioner Fields, “Joe 

Graham”; Commissioner Graham, “Joe Graham”; Commissioner Haynes, “Randy 

Fairbanks”; Commissioner Mackey, “Joe Graham”; and Commissioner Smedley, “Randy 

Fairbanks”. Commissioner Bankston, “Randy Fairbanks”. Total present – 9.  Total 

absent – 0.  Total votes for Randy Fairbanks – 5. Total Votes for Joe Graham – 4. 

 

 Chairman Bankston announced that Commissioner Fairbanks had been elected 

as Chairman Pro Tempore. 

 

OATH OF OFFICE FOR CHAIRMAN PRO TEMPORE OF THE HAMILTON COUNTY 

BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

 

Clerk Knowles administered the Oath of Office to Commissioner Randy 

Fairbanks who was elected Chairman Pro Tempore for the ensuing year. 

 

PRESENTATION – TENNESSEE WILDLIFE RESOURCE AGENCY – ENTERPRISE 

SOUTH NATURE PARK DEER HUNT.   

 

  



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 
SEPTEMBER 2, 2015 

 

 5

Ben Layton, Big Game Specialist with TWRA provided detailed statistics 

regarding the deer herd assessment for Enterprise South Nature Park (ESNP).  He 

reported that the three main criteria for determining condition of the deer herd on ESNP 

are physical conditions, abomasal parasite count, and population survey. He further 

reported that the deer hunting program has successfully reduced the population to 

below carrying capacity. He stated that the overall health and weight of the deer had 

improved. Mr. Layton’s first recommendation was that hunting be discontinued on the 

portion of ESNP open to the public. Deer herd status will continue to be monitored by 

utilizing abomasal parasite counts and distance sampling methodology.  

 

Mr. Layton’s second recommendation was to continue the Wounded Warriors 

serviceman hunts on the acreage adjacent to Highway 58 and Hickory Valley Road, 

which is outside of the public portion of ESNP. He pointed out that perimeter deer hunts 

will serve to limit the growth potential of the deer herd at ESNP.  

 

Commissioner Mackey thanked TWRA for improving the condition of the ESNP 

herds. He reported that homeowners surrounding ESNP have complained about deer 

being driven into their neighborhood. Mr. Layton acknowledge the issue and stated that 

a procedure similar to a big game depredation permit was currently being developed 

that would allow a neighborhood or homeowners association to obtain a permit for a 

hunter to come in and remove the deer. In closing Commissioner Mackey asked that 

Mr. Layton leave his business card for further contact.  



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 
SEPTEMBER 2, 2015 

 

 6

 

Commissioner Boyd thanked TWRA for improving the condition of the ESNP 

herds. He also thanked TWRA for continuing to keep the Commission and the public 

informed. In closing, he expressed his appreciation for the detailed report and the 

attached supporting letter from the University of Georgia. 

 

Mr. Layton spoke about Resolution No. 1111-14, which requires TWRA to appear 

before and report deer population statistics to the Hamilton County Board of 

Commissioners before scheduling of a hunt. He suggested that the Resolution be 

changed to require TWRA to make their report no later than May of each year.  

 

The next scheduled Wounded Warriors serviceman hunt on the acreage adjacent 

to Highway 58 and Hickory Valley Road is scheduled for October 19th and 20th.  

 

Attorney Taylor stated an amendment will be prepared for Resolution No. 1111-

14 and submitted to the Commission for approval. The amendment will change the 

yearly report deadline to May of each year. 

 

A copy of Mr. Layton’s report was distributed to members of the Commission and 

the Clerk’s office as a matter of record. 

 

 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 
SEPTEMBER 2, 2015 

 

 7

APPROVAL OF MINUTES 

 

ON MOTION of Commissioner Fields, seconded by Commissioner Boyd, that the 

minutes of the Recessed Meeting of August 12, 2015, the Agenda Preparation Session 

of August 12, 2015, and the Regular Meeting of August 19, 2015, be approved, treat 

same as read, made a matter of record and filed.  The foregoing Motion was 

unanimously adopted on a Roll Call vote, with the following members of the County 

Commission being present and voting as follows:  Commissioner Beck, “Aye”; 

Commissioner Boyd, “Aye”; Commissioner Fairbanks, “Aye”; Commissioner Fields, 

“Aye”; Commissioner Graham, “Aye”; Commissioner Haynes, “Aye”; Commissioner 

Smedley, “Aye”; and Chairman Bankston, “Aye. Commissioner Mackey was in the office 

but absent for the roll call vote. Total present – 8.  Total absent – 1.  Total “Aye” votes – 

8.  Total “Nay” votes – 0.   

 

CRIMINAL COURT CLERK REPORT 

 

The Criminal Court Clerk report for June 2015 was submitted and made a matter 

of record. 

 

 

 

 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 
SEPTEMBER 2, 2015 

 

 8

TRUSTEE’S MONTHLY REPORT 

 

The Trustee’s monthly report for July 2015 was submitted and made a matter of 

record.  

 

TRUSTEE’S EXCESS FEE REPORT 

 

The Trustee’s excess fee report for July 2015 was submitted and made a matter 

of record.  

 

JUVENILE COURT CLERK’S REPORT 

 

The Juvenile Court Clerk’s report for June 2015 was submitted and made a 

matter of record. 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 915-1  A RESOLUTION TO APPROVE AND ACCEPT 

APPLICATIONS FOR NOTARY PUBLIC POSITIONS, THE BONDS AND OATHS OF 

NOTARIES PREVIOUSLY ELECTED, THE OATHS OF DEPUTY COUNTY CLERKS, 

AND THE OATHS OF DEPUTY SHERIFFS. 

 

ON MOTION of Commissioner Fields, seconded by Commissioner Mackey, to 

adopt Resolution No. 915-1.  The foregoing Resolution was unanimously adopted on a 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 
SEPTEMBER 2, 2015 

 

 9

Roll Call vote, with the following members of the County Commission being present and 

voting as follows:  Commissioner Beck, “Aye”; Commissioner Boyd, “Aye”; 

Commissioner Fairbanks, “Aye”; Commissioner Fields, “Aye”; Commissioner Graham, 

“Aye”; Commissioner Haynes, “Aye”; Commissioner Mackey, “Aye”; Commissioner 

Smedley, “Aye”; and Chairman Bankston, “Aye. Total present – 9.  Total absent – 0.  

Total “Aye” votes – 9.  Total “Nay” votes – 0.   

 

Chairman Bankston noted that Resolution Nos. 915-5 through 915-7, 915-9 

through 915-11, and 915-20 were heard by the Committee of the Whole. 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 915-5  A RESOLUTION APPROVING THE EXPENDITURE OF 

TWELVE THOUSAND FIVE HUNDRED DOLLARS ($12,500.00) FROM GENERAL 

FUND DISCRETIONARY MONIES (AS ALLOTTED TO DISTRICT SIX) TO ASSIST 

THE TOWN OF LOOKOUT MOUNTAIN WITH THE RENOVATION OF THEIR 

PAVILION AND PICNIC AREA. 

 

ON MOTION of Commissioner Graham, seconded by Commissioner Fields, to 

adopt Resolution No. 915-5.  The foregoing Resolution was unanimously adopted on a 

Roll Call vote, with the following members of the County Commission being present and 

voting as follows:  Commissioner Beck, “Aye”; Commissioner Boyd, “Aye”; 

Commissioner Fairbanks, “Aye”; Commissioner Fields, “Aye”; Commissioner Graham, 

“Aye”; Commissioner Haynes, “Aye”; Commissioner Mackey, “Aye”; Commissioner 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 
SEPTEMBER 2, 2015 

 

 10

Smedley, “Aye”; and Chairman Bankston, “Aye. Total present – 9.  Total absent – 0.  

Total “Aye” votes – 9.  Total “Nay” votes – 0.   

 

RESOLUTION NO. 915-6  A RESOLUTION APPROVING THE EXPENDITURE OF 

SIX THOUSAND TWENTY SEVEN DOLLARS ($6,027.00) FROM DISCRETIONARY 

BOND FUNDS (AS ALLOTTED TO DISTRICT TWO) TO ASSIST WITH THE COST 

OF A PARKING LOT FOR THE INDOOR BATTING FACILITY AT SIGNAL 

MOUNTAIN MIDDLE/HIGH SCHOOL. 

 

ON MOTION of Commissioner Fields, seconded by Commissioner Graham, to 

adopt Resolution No. 915-.  The foregoing Resolution was unanimously adopted on a 

Roll Call vote, with the following members of the County Commission being present and 

voting as follows:  Commissioner Beck, “Aye”; Commissioner Boyd, “Aye”; 

Commissioner Fairbanks, “Aye”; Commissioner Fields, “Aye”; Commissioner Graham, 

“Aye”; Commissioner Haynes, “Aye”; Commissioner Mackey, “Aye”; Commissioner 

Smedley, “Aye”; and Chairman Bankston, “Aye. Total present – 9.  Total absent – 0.  

Total “Aye” votes – 9.  Total “Nay” votes – 0.   

 

RESOLUTION NO. 915-7  A RESOLUTION APPROVING THE EXPENDITURE OF 

FOUR THOUSAND NINE HUNDRED SIXTY DOLLARS ($4,960.00) FROM 

DISCRETIONARY BOND FUNDS (AS ALLOTTED TO DISTRICT TWO) TO ASSIST 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 
SEPTEMBER 2, 2015 

 

 11

WITH A CEILING REPLACEMENT ON PROPERTY OWNED BY THE TOWN OF 

WALDEN. 

 

ON MOTION of Commissioner Fields, seconded by Commissioner Mackey, to 

adopt Resolution No. 915-7.  The foregoing Resolution was unanimously adopted on a 

Roll Call vote, with the following members of the County Commission being present and 

voting as follows:  Commissioner Beck, “Aye”; Commissioner Boyd, “Aye”; 

Commissioner Fairbanks, “Aye”; Commissioner Fields, “Aye”; Commissioner Graham, 

“Aye”; Commissioner Haynes, “Aye”; Commissioner Mackey, “Aye”; Commissioner 

Smedley, “Aye”; and Chairman Bankston, “Aye. Total present – 9.  Total absent – 0.  

Total “Aye” votes – 9.  Total “Nay” votes – 0.   

 

RESOLUTION NO. 915-8  WAS NOT USED. 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 915-9  A RESOLUTION MAKING AN APPROPRIATION TO 

GIRLS INCORPORATED OF CHATTANOOGA IN THE AMOUNT OF TWO 

THOUSAND FIVE HUNDRED DOLLARS ($2,500.00) FROM GENERAL FUND 

DISCRETIONARY MONIES, AS ALLOTTED TO DISTRICT FIVE. 

 

ON MOTION of Commissioner Beck, seconded by Commissioner Boyd, to adopt 

Resolution No. 915-9.  The foregoing Resolution was unanimously adopted on a Roll 

Call vote, with the following members of the County Commission being present and 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 
SEPTEMBER 2, 2015 

 

 12

voting as follows:  Commissioner Beck, “Aye”; Commissioner Boyd, “Aye”; 

Commissioner Fairbanks, “Aye”; Commissioner Fields, “Aye”; Commissioner Graham, 

“Nay”; Commissioner Haynes, “Aye”; Commissioner Mackey, “Aye”; Commissioner 

Smedley, “Aye”; and Chairman Bankston, “Aye. Total present – 9.  Total absent – 0.  

Total “Aye” votes – 8.  Total “Nay” votes – 1.   

 

RESOLUTION NO. 915-10  A RESOLUTION MAKING AN APPROPRIATION TO 

CHATTANOOGA BALLET, INC., IN THE AMOUNT OF ONE THOUSAND SEVEN 

HUNDRED FIFTY DOLLARS ($1,750.00) FROM GENERAL FUND DISCRETIONARY 

MONIES, AS ALLOTTED TO DISTRICT EIGHT. 

 

ON MOTION of Commissioner Boyd, seconded by Commissioner Mackey, to 

adopt Resolution No. 915-10.  The foregoing Resolution was unanimously adopted on a 

Roll Call vote, with the following members of the County Commission being present and 

voting as follows:  Commissioner Beck, “Aye”; Commissioner Boyd, “Aye”; 

Commissioner Fairbanks, “Aye”; Commissioner Fields, “Aye”; Commissioner Graham, 

“Nay”; Commissioner Haynes, “Aye”; Commissioner Mackey, “Aye”; Commissioner 

Smedley, “Aye”; and Chairman Bankston, “Aye. Total present – 9.  Total absent – 0.  

Total “Aye” votes – 8.  Total “Nay” votes – 1.   

 

RESOLUTION NO. 915-11  A RESOLUTION MAKING AN APPROPRIATION TO 

SCULPTURE FIELDS AT MONTAGUE PARK IN THE AMOUNT OF SIX THOUSAND 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 
SEPTEMBER 2, 2015 

 

 13

DOLLARS ($6,000.00) FROM GENERAL FUND DISCRETIONARY MONIES, AS 

ALLOTTED TO DISTRICT EIGHT. 

 

ON MOTION of Commissioner Boyd, seconded by Commissioner Mackey, to 

adopt Resolution No. 915-11.  The foregoing Resolution was unanimously adopted on a 

Roll Call vote, with the following members of the County Commission being present and 

voting as follows:  Commissioner Beck, “Aye”; Commissioner Boyd, “Aye”; 

Commissioner Fairbanks, “Aye”; Commissioner Fields, “Aye”; Commissioner Graham, 

“Aye”; Commissioner Haynes, “Aye”; Commissioner Mackey, “Aye”; Commissioner 

Smedley, “Aye”; and Chairman Bankston, “Aye. Total present – 9.  Total absent – 0.  

Total “Aye” votes – 9.  Total “Nay” votes – 0.   

 

After the roll was called for Resolution No. 915-11 Commissioner Haynes left and 

was not present for the reminder of the meeting. 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 915-20  A RESOLUTION TO ADOPT POWERS GRANTED TO 

TENNESSEE COUNTIES PURSUANT TO TENNESSEE CODE ANNOTATED 

SECTION 5-1-118, ET SEQ. (ALSO KNOWN AS "THE COUNTY GENERAL 

POWERS ACT"), AND TO AUTHORIZE HAMILTON COUNTY TO EXERCISE 

CERTAIN POWERS GRANTED TO MUNICIPALITIES PURSUANT TO TENNESSEE 

CODE ANNOTATED SECTIONS 6-2-201 (22) AND (23) WITH RESPECT TO THE 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 
SEPTEMBER 2, 2015 

 

 14

REGULATION OF NUISANCES AND OTHER PRACTICES DETRIMENTAL TO THE 

INHABITANTS OF THE COUNTY. 

 

ON MOTION of Commissioner Graham, seconded by Commissioner Mackey, to 

adopt Resolution No. 915-20.  The foregoing Resolution was unanimously adopted on a 

Roll Call vote, with the following members of the County Commission being present and 

voting as follows:  Commissioner Beck, “Aye”; Commissioner Boyd, “Aye”; 

Commissioner Fairbanks, “Aye”; Commissioner Fields, “Aye”; Commissioner Graham, 

“Aye”; Commissioner Mackey, “Aye”; Commissioner Smedley, “Aye”; and Chairman 

Bankston, “Aye. Commissioner Haynes was absent. Total present – 8.  Total absent – 

1.  Total “Aye” votes – 9.  Total “Nay” votes – 0.   

 

Chairman Bankston asked that Resolution Nos. 915-2 through 915-4 be 

considered together at this time. 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 915-2  A RESOLUTION ACCEPTING THE BID OF TENNESSEE 

WASTE HAULERS, LLC FOR A ONE (1) YEAR CONTRACT, BEGINNING 

SEPTEMBER 7, 2015, THROUGH SEPTEMBER 6, 2016, WITH THE OPTION TO 

RENEW FOR TWO (2) ADDITIONAL ONE (1) YEAR TERMS, FOR THE RENTAL OF 

ONE (1) SELF-CONTAINED COMPACTOR AND DISPOSAL SERVICES FOR THE 

SHERIFF’S OFFICE AND AUTHORIZING THE COUNTY MAYOR TO SIGN ANY 

CONTRACTS NECESSARY TO IMPLEMENT THIS RESOLUTION. 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 
SEPTEMBER 2, 2015 

 

 15

 

RESOLUTION NO. 915-3  A RESOLUTION TO ACCEPT A CONTINUATION 

CONTRACT BETWEEN THE SHERIFF’S OFFICE AND THE STATE OF 

TENNESSEE’S DEPARTMENT OF HUMAN SERVICES FOR A CHILD SUPPORT 

PROGRAM FOR THE PERIOD JULY 1, 2015 THROUGH JUNE 30, 2016. 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 915-4  A RESOLUTION ACCEPTING THE BID OF DIVERS 

SUPPLY, INC. FOR SURFACE SUPPLIED AIR EQUIPMENT AMOUNTING TO 

$29,584.81 FOR THE SHERIFF’S OFFICE AND AUTHORIZING THE COUNTY 

MAYOR TO SIGN ANY CONTRACTS NECESSARY TO IMPLEMENT THIS 

RESOLUTION. 

 

Commissioner Graham provided details regarding Resolution Nos. 915-2 through 

915-4 and stated the Finance Committee reviewed each item and recommended 

approval. 

 

ON MOTION of Commissioner Graham, seconded by Commissioner Mackey, to 

adopt Resolution Nos. 915-2 through 915-4.  The foregoing Resolutions were 

unanimously adopted on a Roll Call vote, with the following members of the County 

Commission being present and voting as follows:  Commissioner Beck, “Aye”; 

Commissioner Boyd, “Aye”; Commissioner Fairbanks, “Aye”; Commissioner Fields, 

“Aye”; Commissioner Graham, “Aye”; Commissioner Mackey, “Aye”; Commissioner 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 
SEPTEMBER 2, 2015 

 

 16

Smedley, “Aye”; and Chairman Bankston, “Aye. Commissioner Haynes was absent. 

Total present – 8.  Total absent – 1.  Total “Aye” votes – 8.  Total “Nay” votes – 0.   

 

Chairman Bankston asked that Resolution Nos. 915-12 through 915-18 be 

considered together at this time. 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 915-12  A RESOLUTION RATIFYING THE PURCHASE OF 

GASOLINE AND DIESEL FUEL FOR THE PERIOD OF JULY 1, 2015, THROUGH 

JULY 31, 2015, AND TO AUTHORIZE THE COUNTY MAYOR TO SIGN ANY 

CONTRACTS NECESSARY TO IMPLEMENT THIS RESOLUTION. 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 915-13  A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE COUNTY MAYOR 

ON BEHALF OF HAMILTON COUNTY, TENNESSEE, THE HEALTH SERVICES 

DIVISION, OPERATING AS THE CHATTANOOGA-HAMILTON COUNTY HEALTH 

DEPARTMENT TO SIGN A CONTRACT IN THE AMOUNT OF $8,010.00 WITH THE 

TENNESSEE DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH TO PROVIDE EMERGENCY DENTAL 

CARE FOR UNINSURED ADULTS AGES 19– 64 YEARS FOR THE TIME PERIOD 

JULY 1, 2015 THROUGH JUNE 30, 2016. 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 915-14  A RESOLUTION ACCEPTING THE BIDS OF TALLEY 

CONSTRUCTION COMPANY, INC. DBA SOUTHEASTERN MATERIALS, INC., 

HUDSON MATERIALS COMPANY, BLACKLIDGE EMULSIONS, INC., DUNLAP 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 
SEPTEMBER 2, 2015 

 

 17

STONE, INC. AND HIWASSEE PAVING, LLC. FOR SIX (6) MONTHS CONTRACT 

PRICING, BEGINNING SEPTEMBER 7, 2015, THROUGH MARCH 6, 2016, FOR 

ASPHALT ROAD MATERIALS AND AUTHORIZING THE COUNTY MAYOR TO SIGN 

ANY CONTRACTS NECESSARY TO IMPLEMENT THIS RESOLUTION. 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 915-15  A RESOLUTION ACCEPTING THE BIDS OF MARTIN 

MARIETTA MATERIALS, VULCAN MATERIALS COMPANY, DUNLAP STONE, INC., 

AND MIDSOUTH AGGREGATES FOR SIX (6) MONTHS CONTRACT PRICING, 

BEGINNING SEPTEMBER 7, 2015, THROUGH MARCH 6, 2016, FOR CRUSHED 

STONE AND SAND FOR THE HIGHWAY DEPARTMENT, AND AUTHORIZING THE 

COUNTY MAYOR TO SIGN ANY CONTRACTS NECESSARY TO IMPLEMENT THIS 

RESOLUTION. 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 915-16  A RESOLUTION ACCEPTING THE BIDS OF 

SEQUATCHIE CONCRETE SERVICE, INC., TNT CONCRETE, LLC AND LAMBCON 

READY MIX FOR SIX (6) MONTHS CONTRACT PRICING, BEGINNING 

SEPTEMBER 7, 2015 THROUGH MARCH 6, 2016, FOR READY MIX CONCRETE 

FOR THE HIGHWAY DEPARTMENT, AND AUTHORIZING THE COUNTY MAYOR 

TO SIGN ANY CONTRACTS NECESSARY TO IMPLEMENT THIS RESOLUTION. 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 915-17  A RESOLUTION ACCEPTING THE BIDS OF CONTECH 

ENGINEERED SOLUTIONS, LLC, AND SHERMAN DIXIE CONCRETE INDUSTRIES, 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 
SEPTEMBER 2, 2015 

 

 18

INC. FOR SIX (6) MONTHS CONTRACT PRICING, BEGINNING SEPTEMBER 7, 

2015, THROUGH MARCH 6, 2016, FOR CONCRETE AND METAL CULVERT FOR 

THE HIGHWAY DEPARTMENT AND TO AUTHORIZE THE COUNTY MAYOR TO 

SIGN ANY CONTRACTS NECESSARY TO IMPLEMENT THIS RESOLUTION. 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 915-18  A RESOLUTION ACCEPTING THE BIDS OF PROBUILD 

AND SEQUATCHIE CONCRETE SERVICE FOR SIX (6) MONTHS CONTRACT 

PRICING, BEGINNING SEPTEMBER 7, 2015, THROUGH MARCH 6, 2016, FOR 

BAGGED PORTLAND CEMENT FOR THE HIGHWAY DEPARTMENT AND 

AUTHORIZING THE COUNTY MAYOR TO SIGN ANY CONTRACTS NECESSARY 

TO IMPLEMENT THIS RESOLUTION. 

 

Commissioner Graham provided details regarding Resolution Nos. 915-12 

through 915-18 and stated the Finance Committee reviewed each item and 

recommended approval. 

 

ON MOTION of Commissioner Graham, seconded by Commissioner Mackey, to 

adopt Resolution Nos. 915-12 through 915-18.  The foregoing Resolutions were 

unanimously adopted on a Roll Call vote, with the following members of the County 

Commission being present and voting as follows:  Commissioner Beck, “Aye”; 

Commissioner Boyd, “Aye”; Commissioner Fairbanks, “Aye”; Commissioner Fields, 

“Aye”; Commissioner Graham, “Aye”; Commissioner Mackey, “Aye”; Commissioner 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 
SEPTEMBER 2, 2015 

 

 19

Smedley, “Aye”; and Chairman Bankston, “Aye. Total present – 8.  Total absent – 1.  

Total “Aye” votes – 8.  Total “Nay” votes – 0.   

 

Chairman Bankston asked that Resolution No. 915-19 be considered at this time. 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 915-19  A RESOLUTION TO AUTHORIZE THE HAMILTON 

COUNTY BOARD OF EDUCATION TO PARTICIPATE IN THE TENNESSEE 

CONSOLIDATED RETIREMENT SYSTEM SEPARATELY FROM HAMILTON 

COUNTY, TENNESSEE, WITH WHICH IT IS CURRENTLY ASSOCIATED, AS 

PROVIDED IN TENNESSEE CODE ANNOTATED, SECTION 8-35-201. 

 

Commissioner Graham provided details regarding Resolution No. 915-19 and 

stated the Finance Committee reviewed the item and recommended denial. It was 

clarified that denial of the resolution will keep all new Hamilton County Board of 

Education employees beginning October 1, 2015, on the hybrid retirement plan. The 

hybrid retirement plan was unanimously adopted on March 18, 2015, Resolution Nos. 

315-35 through 315-37.  

 

ON MOTION of Commissioner Graham, seconded by Commissioner Boyd, to 

deny Resolution No. 915-19. 

 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 
SEPTEMBER 2, 2015 

 

 20

Commissioner Mackey noted that there were disagreements between the 

Finance Committee and the Board of Education. He asked Christie Jordan, Hamilton 

County Department of Education Assistant Superintendent of Finance to address the 

discrepancy in numbers reported. 

 

Ms. Jordan approached the podium and addressed Commissioner Mackey’s 

concerns. For the record she noted that a handout was distributed to the Commission 

and the Clerk’s office. She further explained why classified employees (Educational 

Assistants, Clerical Assistants, and Secretaries) should remain on the Tennessee 

Consolidated Retirement System (TCRS) legacy plan. She noted the annual average 

salary for classified employees is about $23, 275 and that they have work years of 201 

days or less. Moving classified employees to the Hybrid Plan will require them to 

contribute 5% of their pay to said retirement plan. Reducing take home pay of the 

lowest paid employees will make it difficult to fill these positions. 

 

 Ms. Jordan noted that there will be a shift in expense to Hamilton County 

Department Education (HCDE). What was once a retirement expense will now be a 

hiring and training expense. In closing she noted that under the hybrid retirement plan, 

classified employees do not have an incentive to maintain employment with HCDE.  

 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 
SEPTEMBER 2, 2015 

 

 21

 In response to Chairman Bankston’s question, Ms. Jordan reported that the 

Hamilton County Board of Education unanimously approved and recommended it be 

presented to the Commission. 

 

 In response to Commission Boyd’s question, Ms. Jordan reported that, if the 

resolution is approved, it is unknown if HCDE’s 2016 – 2017 budget will increase when 

compared to HCDE’s 2015 – 2016 Budget.  

 

 Commissioner Boyd stated he would not be supporting Resolution No. 915-19. 

He explained that the classified employees are working an average of less than 30 

hours per week. By federal standards, part time is defined as working an average of 

less than 30 hours a week and is not required to be provided with benefits.  

 

 In response to Commissioner Fairbanks inquiry, Albert Kiser, Administrator of 

Finance stated TCRS and their actuaries advised Hamilton County to opt for the hybrid 

retirement plan. Long term, the hybrid plan will save the county a substantial amount of 

money.  It is also estimated that the 14.33% the county currently contributes to the 

legacy retirement plan could possibly increase in the future.  

 

The foregoing Motion to reject the resolution was adopted on a Roll Call vote, 

with the following members of the County Commission being present and voting as 

follows:  Commissioner Beck, “Nay”; Commissioner Boyd, “Aye”; Commissioner 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 
SEPTEMBER 2, 2015 

 

 22

Fairbanks, “Aye”; Commissioner Fields, “Aye”; Commissioner Graham, “Aye”; 

Commissioner Mackey, “Nay”; Commissioner Smedley, “Aye”; and Chairman Bankston, 

“Aye. Total present – 8.  Commissioner Haynes was absent. Total absent – 1.  Total 

“Aye” votes – 6.  Total “Nay” votes – 2.   

 

ANNOUNCEMENTS 

 

Chairman Bankston asked for announcements from members of the 

Commission.  

 

Commissioner Mackey spoke about continuous job growth in the area and 

encouraged the Mayor to look beyond our borders and continue to reach out to 

companies globally. 

 

The Mayor and several Members of the Commission thanked Commissioner 

Fields for his previous service as Chair and congratulated Chairman Bankston and 

Chairman Pro Tempore Fairbanks who were elected for the ensuing year. 

 

Commissioner Fields announced that the Signal Mountain Lions Club will be 

hosting their annual Labor Day Barbeque at Althous Park and invited everyone to 

attend. 

 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 
SEPTEMBER 2, 2015 

 

 23

DELEGATIONS 

 

Chairman Fields asked for delegations on matters other than zoning. There was 

no one. 

 

There being no further business, Chairman Fields declared the meeting in recess 

until Wednesday, September 9, 2015 at 9:30 AM.  

 

Respectfully submitted: 

 

      
____________________________________    

     William F. (Bill) Knowles, County Clerk 
 

Approved: 

 

_______   

Date     Clerk’s Initials 

 

 





No. 915-21 
 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 

Hamilton County 

 

 
September 16, 2015 
Date (Month, Day, Year) 

 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 

RESOLUTION 

 
 
  A RESOLUTION TO APPROVE AND ACCEPT APPLICATIONS FOR 

NOTARY PUBLIC POSITIONS, THE BONDS AND OATHS OF 
NOTARIES PREVIOUSLY ELECTED, THE OATHS OF DEPUTY 
COUNTY CLERKS,  THE OATH OF DEPUTY SHERIFF, AND THE 
OATH OF CHAIRMAN AND CHAIRMAN PRO TEMPORE OF THE 
HAMILTON COUNTY BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS.  

 
 
WHEREAS, William F. (Bill) Knowles, Hamilton County Clerk, has certified according to the 

records of his office that the persons named on the attached listing labeled 
"HAMILTON COUNTY NOTARY PUBLIC APPLICATIONS" have duly 
applied for the positions so sought; and 

 
WHEREAS, said Bill Knowles has certified according to the records of his office that the 

persons named on the attached listing labeled "REPORT FROM THE OFFICE 
OF THE COUNTY CLERK" have given approved bonds for the office of 
Notary Public and have taken the oath of office; and 

 
WHEREAS, said Bill Knowles has certified according to the records of his office that the 

persons named on the attached listing labeled "OATHS OF DEPUTY 
COUNTY CLERKS" have taken the oath of office; and 

 
WHEREAS, said Bill Knowles has certified according to the records of his office that the 

person named on the attached listing labeled "OATH OF DEPUTY SHERIFF" 
has taken the oath of office. 

 
WHEREAS, said Bill Knowles has certified according to records of his office that the persons 

named on the attached listing labeled "OATH OF CHAIRMAN AND 
CHAIRMAN PRO TEMPORE OF THE HAMILTON COUNTY BOARD 
OF COMMISSIONERS" have taken the oath of office; and 

 



 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY BOARD OF 
COMMISSIONERS: 
 

1. That the persons named on the listing labeled "HAMILTON COUNTY 
NOTARY PUBLIC APPLICATIONS" are hereby approved as applicants 
therefore; and 
 

2.  That persons listed on the "REPORT FROM THE OFFICE OF THE 
COUNTY CLERK" relative to bonds given for the position of Notary Public are 
hereby approved for such and the bonds are accepted and the oaths therefor are 
approved as taken; and 

 
3. That the persons named on the listing labeled "OATHS OF DEPUTY 

COUNTY CLERKS" are accepted and the oaths therefore are approved as 
taken; and  

 
4. That the person named on the listing labeled "OATH OF DEPUTY SHERIFF" 

is accepted and the oath therefore is approved as taken; and 
 
5. That the persons named on the listing labeled "OATH OF CHAIRMAN AND 

CHAIRMAN PRO TEMPORE OF THE HAMILTON COUNTY BOARD 
OF COMMISSIONERS" are accepted and the oath therefor is approved as 
taken: and 

 
6. That each such person named on the listings hereinabove mentioned (which 

listings are attached hereto and incorporated herein by reference) is hereby 
deemed to have been individually considered according to the particular matter 
relating thereto. 

 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT  
FROM AND AFTER ITS PASSAGE. 

 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 

 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 

 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

September 16, 2015 

  
Date 

 



































No. 915-22A 
 

 

 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 

Hamilton County 

 

 
September 16, 2015 
Date (Month, Day, Year) 

 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 

RESOLUTION 

 
 
                                                                                                                   (P.C. NO. 2015-092) 
 

A RESOLUTION GRANTING THE APPROVAL OF A 
SPECIAL PERMIT FOR AN AIRCRAFT LANDING 

STRIP PER ARTICLE VI, SECTION 402, ON A TRACT 
OF LAND LOCATED AT 2380 RETRO HUGHES 

ROAD 
 
 WHEREAS,  ASA Engineering c/o Allen Jones/David Taylor petitioned the 
Chattanooga-Hamilton County Regional Planning Commission to recommend 
granting the approval of a Special Permit for an Aircraft Landing Strip per Article VI, 
Section 402, on a tract of land located at 2380 Retro Hughes Road, and said Planning 
Commission after hearing recommended that this petition be approved; and 
 WHEREAS, ASA Engineering c/o Allen Jones/David Taylor requested that the 
County Commission consider said petition and notice has been published in a 
newspaper in general circulation in Hamilton County that the County Commission will 
hold a public hearing on September 16, 2015, concerning the passage of this 
Resolution as required by law, and such having been held. 
  NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE 
BODY IN SESSION ASSEMBLED:  That the zoning regulations of Hamilton County 
be amended granting the approval of a Special Permit for an Aircraft Landing Strip per 
Article VI, Section 402, on a tract of land located at 2380 Retro Hughes Road.  An 
unplatted tract of land located at 2380 Retro Hughes Road being the property 
described in Deed Book 10409, Page 283, ROHC.  Tax Map 019-006 as shown on 
the attached map. 
 
 BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM 
AND AFTER ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT. 

 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 

 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 

 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

September 16, 2015 

  
Date 

 

























No. 915-22B 
 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 

Hamilton County 

 

 
September 16, 2015 
Date (Month, Day, Year) 

 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 

RESOLUTION 

 
 
                                                                                                                   (P.C. NO. 2015-092) 
 

A RESOLUTION GRANTING THE APPROVAL OF A 
SPECIAL PERMIT FOR AN AIRCRAFT LANDING 

STRIP PER ARTICLE VI, SECTION 402, ON A TRACT 
OF LAND LOCATED AT 2380 RETRO HUGHES 

ROAD 
 
 WHEREAS,  ASA Engineering c/o Allen Jones/David Taylor petitioned the 
Chattanooga-Hamilton County Regional Planning Commission to recommend 
granting the approval of a Special Permit for an Aircraft Landing Strip per Article VI, 
Section 402, on a tract of land located at 2380 Retro Hughes Road, and said Planning 
Commission after hearing recommended that this petition be approved; and 
 WHEREAS, ASA Engineering c/o Allen Jones/David Taylor requested that the 
County Commission consider said petition and notice has been published in a 
newspaper in general circulation in Hamilton County that the County Commission will 
hold a public hearing on September 16, 2015, concerning the passage of this 
Resolution as required by law, and such having been held. 
  NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE 
BODY IN SESSION ASSEMBLED:  That the zoning regulations of Hamilton County 
be amended granting the approval of a Special Permit for an Aircraft Landing Strip per 
Article VI, Section 402, on a tract of land located at 2380 Retro Hughes Road, 
subject to the following conditions:  1) Landing strip shall be limited to personal 
use by the property owners only; 2) No commercial operations allowed; 3) All 
take-off/landings will occur during daylight hours; 4) The airstrip shall not be 
lighted; 5) The location of the landing strip, hangar and parking shall be 
generally located in conformance to the submitted site plan dated 07/23/2015; 6) 
The approach and take-off of all airplanes shall be from the north end of the 
landing strip; and 7) Landing strip shall be limited to ten 30-minute flights per 
month.  An unplatted tract of land located at 2380 Retro Hughes Road being the 
property described in Deed Book 10409, Page 283, ROHC.  Tax Map 019-006 as 
shown on the attached map. 



 

 

 

 BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM 
AND AFTER ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT. 

 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 

 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 

 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

September 16, 2015 

  
Date 

 

























No. 915-22C 
 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 

Hamilton County 

 

 
September 16, 2015 
Date (Month, Day, Year) 

 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 

RESOLUTION 

 
 
                                                                                                                   (P.C. NO. 2015-092) 
 

A RESOLUTION GRANTING THE APPROVAL OF A 
SPECIAL PERMIT FOR AN AIRCRAFT LANDING 

STRIP PER ARTICLE VI, SECTION 402, ON A TRACT 
OF LAND LOCATED AT 2380 RETRO HUGHES 

ROAD 
 
 WHEREAS,  ASA Engineering c/o Allen Jones/David Taylor petitioned the 
Chattanooga-Hamilton County Regional Planning Commission to recommend 
granting the approval of a Special Permit for an Aircraft Landing Strip per Article VI, 
Section 402, on a tract of land located at 2380 Retro Hughes Road, and said Planning 
Commission after hearing recommended that this petition be approved; and 
 WHEREAS, ASA Engineering c/o Allen Jones/David Taylor requested that the 
County Commission consider said petition and notice has been published in a 
newspaper in general circulation in Hamilton County that the County Commission will 
hold a public hearing on September 16, 2015, concerning the passage of this 
Resolution as required by law, and such having been held. 
  NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE 
BODY IN SESSION ASSEMBLED:  That the zoning regulations of Hamilton County 
be amended granting the approval of a Special Permit for an Aircraft Landing Strip per 
Article VI, Section 402, on a tract of land located at 2380 Retro Hughes Road, 
subject to the following conditions:  1) Landing strip shall be limited to personal 
use by the property owners only; 2) No commercial operations allowed; 3) All 
take-off/landings will occur during daylight hours; 4) The airstrip shall not be 
lighted; 5) The location of the landing strip, hangar and parking shall be 
generally located in conformance to the submitted site plan dated 07/23/2015.  
An unplatted tract of land located at 2380 Retro Hughes Road being the property 
described in Deed Book 10409, Page 283, ROHC.  Tax Map 019-006 as shown on 
the attached map. 
 



 

 

 BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM 
AND AFTER ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT. 

 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 

 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 

 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

September 16, 2015 

  
Date 

 

























No. 915-23 
 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 

Hamilton County 

 

 
September 16, 2015 
Date (Month, Day, Year) 

 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 

RESOLUTION 

 
 
 A RESOLUTION MAKING AN APPROPRIATION TO DALLAS BAY VOLUNTEER FIRE 
DEPARTMENT IN THE AMOUNT OF FIVE THOUSAND DOLLARS ($5,000.00) FROM 
GENERAL FUND DISCRETIONARY MONIES, AS ALLOTTED TO DISTRICT ONE. 
 
WHEREAS, Section 5-9-109 of the Tennessee Code Annotated authorized the County Legislative Body to 

make appropriations to nonprofit charitable and civic organizations; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Hamilton County Legislative Body recognizes the various nonprofit charitable and civic 

organizations located in Hamilton County have great need of funds to carry on their nonprofit 
work; and 

 
WHEREAS, Commissioner Randy Fairbanks desires to allocate Five Thousand Dollars ($5,000.00) from 

General Fund discretionary monies, as allotted to District One, to assist with the purchase of a 
truck; and 

 
WHEREAS, the County Legislative Body deems said funding to be in the best interest of the citizens of 

Hamilton County. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY IN SESSION 
ASSEMBLED: 
 
That Five Thousand Dollars ($5,000.00) from General Fund discretionary monies, as allotted to District One, be 
appropriated to Dallas Bay Volunteer Fire Department to assist with the purchase of a truck. 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that this appropriation be made subject to the following conditions: 
 

1. That the nonprofit charitable and civic organization to which funds are appropriated shall 
file with the County Clerk and the Administrator of Finance a copy of an annual report of 
its business affairs and transactions and the proposed use of the County’s funds.  Such 
annual report shall be prepared and certified by the chief financial officer of such 
nonprofit organization in accordance with Section 5-9-109(c), T.C.A. 

 
2. That said funds must only be used by the named nonprofit charitable and civic 

organization in furtherance of their nonprofit purpose benefiting the general welfare of 
the residents of the County. 

 
 



 

 

3. That it is the expressed interest of the County Commission of Hamilton County in 
providing these funds to the above named organization to be fully in compliance with 
Section 5-9-109 of the Tennessee Code Annotated and any and all other laws which may 
apply to County appropriations to nonprofit charitable and civic organizations and so this 
is made subject to compliance with any and all of these laws and regulations. 

 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM AND AFTER ITS 
PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT. 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 

 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 

 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

September 16, 2015 

  
Date 

 



No. 915-24 
 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 

Hamilton County 

 

 
September 16, 2015 
Date (Month, Day, Year) 

 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 

RESOLUTION 

 
 
 A RESOLUTION MAKING AN APPROPRIATION TO ORANGE GROVE CENTER IN THE 
AMOUNT OF TEN THOUSAND DOLLARS ($10,000.00) FROM GENERAL FUND 
DISCRETIONARY MONIES, AS ALLOTTED TO DISTRICT ONE. 
 
WHEREAS, Section 5-9-109 of the Tennessee Code Annotated authorized the County Legislative 

Body to make appropriations to nonprofit charitable and civic organizations; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Hamilton County Legislative Body recognizes the various nonprofit charitable and 

civic organizations located in Hamilton County have great need of funds to carry on their 
nonprofit work; and 

 
WHEREAS, Commissioner Randy Fairbanks desires to allocate Ten Thousand Dollars ($10,000.00) 

from General Fund discretionary monies to Orange Grove Center to assist with the 
purchase of equipment; and 

 
WHEREAS, the County Legislative Body deems said funding to be in the best interest of the citizens 

of Hamilton County. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY IN SESSION 
ASSEMBLED: 
 
That Ten Thousand Dollars ($10,000.00) from General Fund discretionary monies, as allotted to 
District One, be appropriated to Orange Grove Center to assist with the purchase of equipment. 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that this appropriation be made subject to the following conditions: 

 
1. That the nonprofit charitable and civic organization to which funds are 

appropriated shall file with the County Clerk and the Administrator of Finance a 
copy of an annual report of its business affairs and transactions and the proposed 
use of the County’s funds.  Such annual report shall be prepared and certified by 
the chief financial officer of such nonprofit organization in accordance with 
Section 5-9-109(c), T.C.A. 

 
 



 

 

2. That said funds must only be used by the named nonprofit charitable and civic 
organization in furtherance of their nonprofit purpose benefiting the general 
welfare of the residents of the County. 

 
3. That it is the expressed interest of the County Commission of Hamilton County 

in providing these funds to the above named organization to be fully in 
compliance with Section 5-9-109 of the Tennessee Code Annotated and any and 
all other laws which may apply to County appropriations to nonprofit charitable 
and civic organizations and so this is made subject to compliance with any and all 
of these laws and regulations. 

 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM AND AFTER 
ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT.  
 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 

 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 

 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

Click here to enter a date. 

  
Date 

 







No. 915-25 
 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 

Hamilton County 

 

 
September 16, 2015 
Date (Month, Day, Year) 

 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 

RESOLUTION 

 
 
 A RESOLUTION MAKING AN APPROPRIATION TO MOWBRAY VOLUNTEER FIRE 
DEPARTMENT IN THE AMOUNT OF THIRTEEN THOUSAND DOLLARS ($13,000.00) FROM 
GENERAL FUND DISCRETIONARY MONIES, AS ALLOTTED TO DISTRICT ONE. 
 
WHEREAS, Section 5-9-109 of the Tennessee Code Annotated authorized the County Legislative 

Body to make appropriations to nonprofit charitable and civic organizations; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Hamilton County Legislative Body recognizes the various nonprofit charitable and 

civic organizations located in Hamilton County have great need of funds to carry on their 
nonprofit work; and 

 
WHEREAS, Commissioner Randy Fairbanks desires to allocate Thirteen Thousand Dollars 

($13,000.00) from General Fund discretionary monies, as allotted to District One, to 
assist with the purchase of equipment; and 

 
WHEREAS, the County Legislative Body deems said funding to be in the best interest of the citizens 

of Hamilton County. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY IN 
SESSION ASSEMBLED: 
 
That Thirteen Thousand Dollars ($13,000.00) from General Fund discretionary monies, as allotted to 
District One, be appropriated to Mowbray Volunteer Fire Department to assist with the purchase of 
equipment. 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that this appropriation be made subject to the following conditions: 
 

1. That the nonprofit charitable and civic organization to which funds are 
appropriated shall file with the County Clerk and the Administrator of Finance a 
copy of an annual report of its business affairs and transactions and the proposed 
use of the County’s funds.  Such annual report shall be prepared and certified by 
the chief financial officer of such nonprofit organization in accordance with 
Section 5-9-109(c), T.C.A. 

 



 

 

2. That said funds must only be used by the named nonprofit charitable and civic 
organization in furtherance of their nonprofit purpose benefiting the general 
welfare of the residents of the County. 

 
3. That it is the expressed interest of the County Commission of Hamilton County 

in providing these funds to the above named organization to be fully in 
compliance with Section 5-9-109 of the Tennessee Code Annotated and any and 
all other laws which may apply to County appropriations to nonprofit charitable 
and civic organizations and so this is made subject to compliance with any and all 
of these laws and regulations. 

 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM AND AFTER 
ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT.  

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 

 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 

 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

September 16, 2015 

  
Date 

 



No. 915-26 
 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 

Hamilton County 

 

 
September 16, 2015 
Date (Month, Day, Year) 

 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 

RESOLUTION 

 
 
 A RESOLUTION MAKING AN APPROPRIATION TO EAST LAKE NEIGHBORHOOD 
ASSOCIATION IN THE AMOUNT OF ONE THOUSAND EIGHT HUNDRED DOLLARS 
($1,800.00) FROM GENERAL FUND DISCRETIONARY MONIES, AS ALLOTTED TO 
DISTRICT FOUR. 
 
WHEREAS, Section 5-9-109 of the Tennessee Code Annotated authorized the County Legislative 

Body to make appropriations to nonprofit charitable and civic organizations; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Hamilton County Legislative Body recognizes the various nonprofit charitable and 

civic organizations located in Hamilton County have great need of funds to carry on 
their nonprofit work; and 

 
WHEREAS, Commissioner Warren Mackey desires to allocate One Thousand Eight Hundred Dollars 

($1,800.00) from General Fund discretionary monies to assist the East Lake 
Neighborhood Association with the East Lake Festival; and 

 
WHEREAS, the County Legislative Body deems said funding to be in the best interest of the citizens 

of Hamilton County. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY IN 
SESSION ASSEMBLED: 
 
That One Thousand Eight Hundred Dollars ($1,800.00) from General Fund discretionary monies, as 
allotted to District Four, be appropriated to the East Lake Neighborhood Association to assist with the 
East Lake Festival. 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that this appropriation be made subject to the following conditions: 

 
1. That the nonprofit charitable and civic organization to which funds are 

appropriated shall file with the County Clerk and the Administrator of Finance a 
copy of an annual report of its business affairs and transactions and the proposed 
use of the County’s funds.  Such annual report shall be prepared and certified by 
the chief financial officer of such nonprofit organization in accordance with 
Section 5-9-109(c), T.C.A. 



 

 

 
2. That said funds must only be used by the named nonprofit charitable and civic 

organization in furtherance of their nonprofit purpose benefiting the general 
welfare of the residents of the County. 

 
3. That it is the expressed interest of the County Commission of Hamilton County 

in providing these funds to the above named organization to be fully in 
compliance with Section 5-9-109 of the Tennessee Code Annotated and any and 
all other laws which may apply to County appropriations to nonprofit charitable 
and civic organizations and so this is made subject to compliance with any and all 
of these laws and regulations. 

 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM AND AFTER 
ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT.  

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 

 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 

 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

September 16, 2015 

  
Date 

 













No. 915-27 
 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 

Hamilton County 

 

 
September 16, 2015 
Date (Month, Day, Year) 

 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 

RESOLUTION 

 
 
 A RESOLUTION MAKING AN APPROPRIATION TO VETERANS MEMORIAL PARK OF 
COLLEGEDALE IN THE AMOUNT OF TEN THOUSAND DOLLARS ($10,000.00) FROM 
GENERAL FUND DISCRETIONARY MONIES, AS ALLOTTED TO DISTRICT SEVEN. 
 
 WHEREAS, Section 5-9-109 of the Tennessee Code Annotated authorized the County Legislative 

Body to make appropriations to nonprofit charitable and civic organizations; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Hamilton County Legislative Body recognizes the various nonprofit charitable and 

civic organizations located in Hamilton County have great need of funds to carry on 
their nonprofit work; and 

 
WHEREAS, Commissioner Sabrena Smedley desires to allocate Ten Thousand Dollars ($10,000.00) 

from General Fund discretionary monies, as allotted to District Seven, to assist Veterans 
Memorial Park of Collegedale with renovations; and 

 
WHEREAS, the County Legislative Body deems said funding to be in the best interest of the citizens 

of Hamilton County. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY IN SESSION 
ASSEMBLED: 
 
That Ten Thousand Dollars ($10,000.00) from General Fund discretionary monies, as allotted to 
District Seven, be appropriated to Veterans Memorial Park of Collegedale to assist with renovations. 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that this appropriation be made subject to the following conditions: 

 
1. That the nonprofit charitable and civic organization to which funds are 

appropriated shall file with the County Clerk and the Administrator of Finance a 
copy of an annual report of its business affairs and transactions and the proposed 
use of the County’s funds.  Such annual report shall be prepared and certified by 
the chief financial officer of such nonprofit organization in accordance with 
Section 5-9-109(c), T.C.A. 

 
 



 

 

2. That said funds must only be used by the named nonprofit charitable and civic 
organization in furtherance of their nonprofit purpose benefiting the general 
welfare of the residents of the County. 

 
3. That it is the expressed interest of the County Commission of Hamilton County 

in providing these funds to the above named organization to be fully in 
compliance with Section 5-9-109 of the Tennessee Code Annotated and any and 
all other laws which may apply to County appropriations to nonprofit charitable 
and civic organizations and so this is made subject to compliance with any and all 
of these laws and regulations. 

 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM AND AFTER 
ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT. 
 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 

 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 

 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

September 16, 2015 

  
Date 

 













No. 915-28 
 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 

Hamilton County 

 

 
September 16, 2015 
Date (Month, Day, Year) 

 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 

RESOLUTION 

 
 
 A RESOLUTION MAKING AN APPROPRIATION TO THE NEXT DOOR, INC., IN THE 
AMOUNT OF ONE THOUSAND DOLLARS ($1,000.00) FROM GENERAL FUND 
DISCRETIONARY MONIES, AS ALLOTTED TO DISTRICT NINE. 
 
WHEREAS, Section 5-9-109 of the Tennessee Code Annotated authorized the County Legislative 

Body to make appropriations to nonprofit charitable and civic organizations; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Hamilton County Legislative Body recognizes the various nonprofit charitable and 

civic organizations located in Hamilton County have great need of funds to carry on 
their nonprofit work; and 

 
WHEREAS, Commissioner Chester Bankston has expressed a desire to allocate One Thousand 

Dollars ($1,000.00) from General Fund discretionary monies (as allotted to District 
Nine) to assist with their program; and 

 
WHEREAS, the County Legislative Body deems said funding to be in the best interest of the citizens 

of Hamilton County. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY IN SESSION 
ASSEMBLED: 
 
That One Thousand Dollars ($1,000.00) from General Fund discretionary monies (as allotted to District 
Nine) be appropriated to The Next Door, Inc., to assist with their program. 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that this appropriation be made subject to the following conditions: 

 
1. That the nonprofit charitable and civic organization to which funds are 

appropriated shall file with the County Clerk and the Administrator of Finance a 
copy of an annual report of its business affairs and transactions and the proposed 
use of the County’s funds.  Such annual report shall be prepared and certified by 
the chief financial officer of such nonprofit organization in accordance with 
Section 5-9-109(c), T.C.A. 

 
 



 

 

2. That said funds must only be used by the named nonprofit charitable and civic 
organization in furtherance of their nonprofit purpose benefiting the general 
welfare of the residents of the County. 

 
3. That it is the expressed interest of the County Commission of Hamilton County 

in providing these funds to the above named organization to be fully in 
compliance with Section 5-9-109 of the Tennessee Code Annotated and any and 
all other laws which may apply to County appropriations to nonprofit charitable 
and civic organizations and so this is made subject to compliance with any and all 
of these laws and regulations. 

 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM AND AFTER 
ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT. 
 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 

 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 

 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

September 16, 2015 

  
Date 

 







No. 915-29 
 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 

Hamilton County 

 

 
September 16, 2015 
Date (Month, Day, Year) 

 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 

RESOLUTION 

 
 
A RESOLUTION TO AUTHORIZE THE COUNTY MAYOR TO AWARD FIVE (5)- 
DAYS OF PAID LEAVE FOR THE PURPOSE OF ENCOURAGING ALL HAMILTON 
COUNTY EMPLOYEES TO PARTICIPATE IN THE UNITED WAY CAMPAIGN 
THROUGH PAYROLL DEDUCTION. 
 
WHEREAS,  Hamilton County Government traditionally participates in the annual United 

Way campaign to benefit non-profit, community organizations; and, 
 
WHEREAS,  payroll deduction is the recommended method to contribute to the United Way 

and all County employees are encouraged to take advantage of the payroll 
deduction system for donations; and, 

 
WHEREAS,  as an incentive for employees to support the United Way this year, a proposal 

has been made to award one (1) day of paid leave to each of five (5) Hamilton 
County employees selected through a random drawing of Hamilton County 
employee payroll deduction participants; and, 

 
WHEREAS,  it is in the best interest of Hamilton County to accept said proposal to 

encourage participation in the United Way Campaign to benefit the non-profit 
community organization. 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY IN 
SESSION ASSEMBLED: 
 
That the County Mayor is hereby authorized to award five Hamilton County employees, one 
day of paid leave each, selected through a random drawing of Hamilton County employee 
payroll deduction participants to promote participation in the 2015 Hamilton County 
Government United Way Campaign. 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM AND 
AFTER ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT. 



 

 

 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 

 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 

 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

September 16, 2015 

  
Date 

 



No. 915-30 
 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 

Hamilton County 

 

 
September 16, 2015 
Date (Month, Day, Year) 

 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 

RESOLUTION 

 
 
 A RESOLUTION ADOPTING BY REFERENCE THE UPDATED NATIONAL FLOOD 
INSURANCE PROGRAM (NFIP), FLOOD INSURANCE RATE MAPS (FIRM) FOR 
UNINCORPORATED HAMILTON COUNTY, TENNESSEE. 
 
WHEREAS, pursuant to requirements and standards of the NFIP the current FIRM dated 

November 7, 2002 are superseded and the new maps dated August 14, 2014 
named Flood Insurance Study (FIS) and Flood Insurance Rate Map (FIRM), 
Community 470071, Panel Numbers 47065C0020G, 47065C0040G, 
47065C0045G, 47065C0107G, 47065C0109G, 47065C0118G, 7065C0120G, 
47065C0130G, 47065C0135G, 47065C0140G, 47065C0145G, 7065C0209G, 
47065C0212G, 47065C0213G, 47065C0214G, 47065C0217G, 7065C0218G, 
47065C0226G, 47065C0227G, 47065C0228G, 47065C0229G, 7065C0231G, 
47065C0235G, 47065C0236G, 47065C0237G, 47065C0239G, 7065C0241G, 
47065C0243G, 47065C0245G, 47065C0255G, 47065C0260G, 7065C0264G,  
47065C0265G, 47065C0268G, 47065C0270G, 47065C0310G, 7065C0319G, 
47065C0326G, 47065C0327G, 47065C0328G, 47065C0336G,47065C0338G, 
47065C0339G, 47065C0356G,  47065C0357G, 47065C0359G, 7065C0367G, 
47065C0369G,47065C0378G, 47065C0379G, 47065C0380G,47065C0381G, 
47065C0384G,47065C0386G, 47065C0387G, 47065C0388G, 47065C0389G, 
47065C0391G,47065C0392G, 47065C0393G, 47065C0394G,47065C0425G, 
47065C0432G, 47065C0452G, 47065C0505G, and 47065C0510G dated 
August 14, 2014,  along with all supporting technical data, be adopted by 
reference and made to be a part hereof for enforcement within the 
unincorporated Hamilton County.    

 
WHEREAS, the adoption of the FIRM panels are required in order to maintain eligibility to 

participate in the NFIP.     
 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY, IN SESSION 
ASSEMBLED: 
 
That this Resolution is hereby adopted by reference the updated National Flood Insurance Program 
(NFIP), Flood Insurance Rate Maps (FIRM) for Unincorporated Hamilton County, Tennessee. 



 

 

 
BE IF FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM AND AFTER 
ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT. 
 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 

 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 

 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

September 16, 2015 

  
Date 

 



ARTICLE I. STATUTORY AUTHORIZATION, FINDINGS OF FACT, PURPOSE AND 
OBJECTIVES 

 
Section A. Statutory Authorization 
 
The Legislature of the State of Tennessee has in Sections 13-7-101 through 13-7-115, Tennessee 
Code Annotated delegated the responsibility to the county legislative body to adopt regulations 
designed to promote the public health, safety, and general welfare of its citizenry.  Therefore, the 
Hamilton County, Tennessee, Mayor and County Commissioners, do resolve as follows: 
 
Section B. Findings of Fact 
 

1. The Hamilton County, Tennessee, Mayor and its Legislative Body wish to 
maintain eligibility in the National Flood Insurance Program (NFIP) and in order 
to do so must meet the NFIP regulations found in Title 44 of the Code of Federal 
Regulations (CFR), Ch. 1, Section 60.3. 

 
2. Areas of Hamilton County, Tennessee are subject to periodic inundation which 

could result in loss of life and property, health and safety hazards, disruption of 
commerce and governmental services, extraordinary public expenditures for flood 
protection and relief, and impairment of the tax base, all of which adversely affect 
the public health, safety and general welfare. 

 
3. Flood losses are caused by the cumulative effect of obstructions in floodplains, 

causing increases in flood heights and velocities; by uses in flood hazard areas 
which are vulnerable to floods; or construction which is inadequately elevated, 
flood proofed, or otherwise unprotected from flood damages. 

 
Section C. Statement of Purpose 
 
It is the purpose of this Resolution to promote the public health, safety and general welfare and 
to minimize public and private losses due to flood conditions in specific areas.  This Resolution 
is designed to: 
 

1. Restrict or prohibit uses which are vulnerable to flooding or erosion hazards, or 
which result in damaging increases in erosion, flood heights, or velocities; 

 
2. Require that uses vulnerable to floods, including community facilities, be 

protected against flood damage at the time of initial construction; 
3. Control the alteration of natural floodplains, stream channels, and natural 

protective barriers which are involved in the accommodation of floodwaters; 
 
4. Control filling, grading, dredging and other development which may increase 

flood damage or erosion; 
 
5. Prevent or regulate the construction of flood barriers which will unnaturally divert 

flood waters or which may increase flood hazards to other lands. 
 

Section D. Objectives 
 
The objectives of this Resolution are: 
 

1. To protect human life, health, safety and property; 
 



2. To minimize expenditure of public funds for costly flood control projects; 
 
3. To minimize the need for rescue and relief efforts associated with flooding and 

generally undertaken at the expense of the general public; 
 
4. To minimize prolonged business interruptions; 
 
5. To minimize damage to public facilities and utilities such as water and gas mains, 

electric, telephone and sewer lines, streets and bridges located in flood prone 
areas; 

 
6. To help maintain a stable tax base by providing for the sound use and 

development of flood prone areas to minimize blight in flood areas; 
 
7. To ensure that potential homebuyers are notified that property is in a flood prone 

area; 
 
8. To maintain eligibility for participation in the NFIP. 
 

Section E. Application 
 
This Resolution shall apply to all areas within the unincorporated area of Hamilton County, 
Tennessee. 
 
ARTICLE II DEFINITIONS 
 
Unless specifically defined below, words or phrases used in this Resolution shall be interpreted 
as to give them the meaning they have in common usage and to give this Resolution its most 
reasonable application given its stated purpose and objectives. 
 
"Accessory Structure" means a subordinate structure to the principal structure on the same lot 
and, for the purpose of this Resolution, shall conform to the following: 
 

1. Accessory structures shall only be used for parking of vehicles and storage. 
 
2. Accessory structures shall be designed to have low flood damage potential. 
 
3. Accessory structures shall be constructed and placed on the building site so as to 

offer the minimum resistance to the flow of floodwaters. 
 
4. Accessory structures shall be firmly anchored to prevent flotation, collapse, and 

lateral movement, which otherwise may result in damage to other structures. 
 
5. Utilities and service facilities such as electrical and heating equipment shall be 

elevated or otherwise protected from intrusion of floodwaters. 
 
 
"Addition (to an existing building)" means any walled and roofed expansion to the perimeter 
or height of a building. 
 
"Appeal" means a request for a review of the local enforcement officer’s interpretation of any 
provision of this Resolution or a request for a variance. 
 

 2 



"Area of Shallow Flooding" means a designated AO or AH Zone on a community's Flood 
Insurance Rate Map (FIRM) with one percent or greater annual chance of flooding to an average 
depth of one to three feet where a clearly defined channel does not exist, where the path of 
flooding is unpredictable and indeterminate; and where velocity flow may be evident.  Such 
flooding is characterized by ponding or sheet flow. 
 
"Area of Special Flood-related Erosion Hazard" is the land within a community which is 
most likely to be subject to severe flood-related erosion losses.  The area may be designated as 
Zone E on the Flood Hazard Boundary Map (FHBM) after the detailed evaluation of the special 
flood-related erosion hazard area in preparation for publication of the FIRM, Zone E may be 
further refined. 
 
"Area of Special Flood Hazard"  see  “Special Flood Hazard Area”.  
 
"Base Flood" means the flood having a one percent chance of being equaled or exceeded in any 
given year. This term is also referred to as the 100-year flood or the one (1)-percent annual 
chance flood. 
 
"Basement" means any portion of a building having its floor subgrade (below ground level) on 
all sides. 
 
"Building"  see  “Structure”.  
 
"Development" means any man-made change to improved or unimproved real estate, including, 
but not limited to, buildings or other structures, mining, dredging, filling, grading, paving, 
excavating, drilling operations, or storage of equipment or materials. 
 
"Elevated Building" means a non-basement building built to have the lowest floor of the lowest 
enclosed area elevated above the ground level by means of solid foundation perimeter walls with 
openings sufficient to facilitate the unimpeded movement of floodwater, pilings, columns, piers, 
or shear walls adequately anchored so as not to impair the structural integrity of the building 
during a base flood event.  
 
"Emergency Flood Insurance Program" or "Emergency Program" means the program as 
implemented on an emergency basis in accordance with Section 1336 of the Act.  It is intended 
as a program to provide a first layer amount of insurance on all insurable structures before the 
effective date of the initial FIRM. 
 
"Erosion"   means the process of the gradual wearing away of land masses.  This peril is not 
“per se” covered under the Program. 
 
"Exception” means a waiver from the provisions of this Resolution which relieves the applicant 
from the requirements of a rule, regulation, order or other determination made or issued pursuant 
to this Resolution. 
 
"Existing Construction" means any structure for which the "start of construction" commenced 
before the effective date of the initial floodplain management code or resolution adopted by the 
community as a basis for that community’s participation in the NFIP. 
 
"Existing Manufactured Home Park or Subdivision" means a manufactured home park or 
subdivision for which the construction of facilities for servicing the lots on which the 
manufactured homes are to be affixed (including, at a minimum, the installation of utilities, the 
construction of streets, final site grading or the pouring of concrete pads) is completed before the 

 3 



effective date of the first floodplain management code or resolution adopted by the community 
as a basis for that community’s participation in the NFIP. 
 
"Existing Structures" see "Existing Construction". 
 
"Expansion to an Existing Manufactured Home Park or Subdivision" means the preparation 
of additional sites by the construction of facilities for servicing the lots on which the 
manufactured homes are to be affixed (including the installation of utilities, the construction of 
streets, and either final site grading or the pouring of concrete pads). 
 
"Flood" or "Flooding" means a general and temporary condition of partial or complete 
inundation of normally dry land areas from: 
 

1. The overflow of inland or tidal waters. 
 
2. The unusual and rapid accumulation or runoff of surface waters from any source. 

 
"Flood Elevation Determination" means a determination by the Federal Emergency 
Management Agency (FEMA) of the water surface elevations of the base flood, that is, the flood 
level that has a one percent or greater chance of occurrence in any given year. 
 
"Flood Elevation Study” means an examination, evaluation and determination of flood hazards 
and, if appropriate, corresponding water surface elevations, or an examination, evaluation and 
determination of mudslide (i.e., mudflow) or flood-related erosion hazards. 
 
"Flood Hazard Boundary Map (FHBM)" means an official map of a community, issued by 
FEMA, where the boundaries of areas of special flood hazard have been designated as Zone A. 
 
"Flood Insurance Rate Map (FIRM)" means an official map of a community, issued by 
FEMA, delineating the areas of special flood hazard or the risk premium zones applicable to the 
community. 
 
"Flood Insurance Study" is the official report provided by FEMA, evaluating flood hazards 
and containing flood profiles and water surface elevation of the base flood. 
 
"Floodplain" or "Floodprone Area" means any land area susceptible to being inundated by 
water from any source (see definition of "flooding"). 
 
"Floodplain Management” means the operation of an overall program of corrective and 
preventive measures for reducing flood damage, including but not limited to emergency 
preparedness plans, flood control works and floodplain management regulations. 
 
"Flood Protection System” means those physical structural works for which funds have been 
authorized, appropriated, and expended and which have been constructed specifically to modify 
flooding in order to reduce the extent of the area within a community subject to a "special flood 
hazard" and the extent of the depths of associated flooding.  Such a system typically includes 
hurricane tidal barriers, dams, reservoirs, levees or dikes.  These specialized flood modifying 
works are those constructed in conformance with sound engineering standards. 
 
"Floodproofing" means any combination of structural and nonstructural additions, changes, or 
adjustments to structures which reduce or eliminate flood damage to real estate or improved real 
property, water and sanitary facilities and structures and their contents. 
 

 4 



"Flood-related Erosion" means the collapse or subsidence of land along the shore of a lake or 
other body of water as a result of undermining caused by waves or currents of water exceeding 
anticipated cyclical levels or suddenly caused by an unusually high water level in a natural body 
of water, accompanied by a severe storm, or by an unanticipated force of nature, such as a flash 
flood, or by some similarly unusual and unforeseeable event which results in flooding. 
 
"Flood-related Erosion Area" or "Flood-related Erosion Prone Area" means a land area 
adjoining the shore of a lake or other body of water, which due to the composition of the 
shoreline or bank and high water levels or wind-driven currents, is likely to suffer flood-related 
erosion damage. 
 
"Flood-related Erosion Area Management" means the operation of an overall program of 
corrective and preventive measures for reducing flood-related erosion damage, including but not 
limited to emergency preparedness plans, flood-related erosion control works and floodplain 
management regulations. 
 
"Floodway" means the channel of a river or other watercourse and the adjacent land areas that 
must be reserved in order to discharge the base flood without cumulatively increasing the water 
surface elevation more than a designated height. 
 
"Freeboard" means a factor of safety usually expressed in feet above a flood level for purposes 
of floodplain management.  "Freeboard" tends to compensate for the many unknown factors that 
could contribute to flood heights greater than the height calculated for a selected size flood and 
floodway conditions, such as wave action, blockage of bridge or culvert openings, and the 
hydrological effect of urbanization of the watershed. 
 
"Functionally Dependent Use" means a use which cannot perform its intended purpose unless 
it is located or carried out in close proximity to water.  The term includes only docking facilities, 
port facilities that are necessary for the loading and unloading of cargo or passengers, and ship 
building and ship repair facilities, but does not include long-term storage or related 
manufacturing facilities. 
 
"Highest Adjacent Grade" means the highest natural elevation of the ground surface, prior to 
construction, adjacent to the proposed walls of a structure. 
 
"Historic Structure" means any structure that is: 
 

1. Listed individually in the National Register of Historic Places (a listing 
maintained by the U.S. Department of Interior) or preliminarily determined by the 
Secretary of the Interior as meeting the requirements for individual listing on the 
National Register; 

 
2. Certified or preliminarily determined by the Secretary of the Interior as 

contributing to the historical significance of a registered historic district or a 
district preliminarily determined by the Secretary to qualify as a registered 
historic district; 

 
3. Individually listed on the Tennessee inventory of historic places and determined 

as eligible by states with historic preservation programs which have been 
approved by the Secretary of the Interior; or 

 
4. Individually listed on the Hamilton County, Tennessee inventory of historic 

places and determined as eligible by communities with historic preservation 
programs that have been certified either: 

 5 



 
a. By the approved Tennessee program as determined by the Secretary of the 

Interior or 
 
b. Directly by the Secretary of the Interior. 

 
"Levee" means a man-made structure, usually an earthen embankment, designed and 
constructed in accordance with sound engineering practices to contain, control or divert the flow 
of water so as to provide protection from temporary flooding. 
 
"Levee System" means a flood protection system which consists of a levee, or levees, and 
associated structures, such as closure and drainage devices, which are constructed and operated 
in accordance with sound engineering practices. 
 
"Lowest Floor" means the lowest floor of the lowest enclosed area, including a basement.  An 
unfinished or flood resistant enclosure used solely for parking of vehicles, building access or 
storage in an area other than a basement area is not considered a building's lowest floor; 
provided, that such enclosure is not built so as to render the structure in violation of the 
applicable non-elevation design requirements of this Resolution. 
 
"Manufactured Home" means a structure, transportable in one or more sections, which is built 
on a permanent chassis and designed for use with or without a permanent foundation when 
attached to the required utilities.  The term "Manufactured Home" does not include a 
"Recreational Vehicle".  
 
"Manufactured Home Park or Subdivision" means a parcel (or contiguous parcels) of land 
divided into two or more manufactured home lots for rent or sale. 
 
"Map" means the Flood Hazard Boundary Map (FHBM) or the Flood Insurance Rate Map 
(FIRM) for a community issued by FEMA. 
 
"Mean Sea Level" means the average height of the sea for all stages of the tide.  It is used as a 
reference for establishing various elevations within the floodplain.  For the purposes of this 
Resolution, the term is synonymous with the National Geodetic Vertical Datum (NGVD) of 
1929, the North American Vertical Datum (NAVD) of 1988, or other datum, to which Base 
Flood Elevations shown on a community's Flood Insurance Rate Map are referenced. 
 
"National Geodetic Vertical Datum (NGVD)" means, as corrected in 1929, a vertical control 
used as a reference for establishing varying elevations within the floodplain. 
 
"New Construction" means any structure for which the "start of construction" commenced on 
or after the effective date of the initial floodplain management Resolution and includes any 
subsequent improvements to such structure. 
 
"New Manufactured Home Park or Subdivision" means a manufactured home park or 
subdivision for which the construction of facilities for servicing the lots on which the 
manufactured homes are to be affixed (including at a minimum, the installation of utilities, the 
construction of streets, and either final site grading or the pouring of concrete pads) is completed 
on or after the effective date of this resolution or the effective date of the initial floodplain 
management resolution and includes any subsequent improvements to such structure. 
 
"North American Vertical Datum (NAVD)" means, as corrected in 1988, a vertical control 
used as a reference for establishing varying elevations within the floodplain. 
 

 6 



"100-year Flood" see "Base Flood". 
 
"Person" includes any individual or group of individuals, corporation, partnership, association, 
or any other entity, including State and local governments and agencies. 
 
“Reasonably Safe from Flooding” means base flood waters will not inundate the land or 
damage structures to be removed from the Special Flood Hazard Area and that any subsurface 
waters related to the base flood will not damage existing or proposed structures. 
 
 
"Recreational Vehicle" means a vehicle which is: 
 

1. Built on a single chassis; 
 
2. 400 square feet or less when measured at the largest horizontal projection; 
 
3. Designed to be self-propelled or permanently towable by a light duty truck;  

 
4. Designed primarily not for use as a permanent dwelling but as temporary living 

quarters for recreational, camping, travel, or seasonal use. 
 
"Regulatory Floodway" means the channel of a river or other watercourse and the adjacent 
land areas that must be reserved in order to discharge the base flood without cumulatively 
increasing the water surface elevation more than a designated height. 
 
"Riverine" means relating to, formed by, or resembling a river (including tributaries), stream, 
brook, etc. 
 
“Special Flood Hazard Area” is the land in the floodplain within a community subject to a one 
percent or greater chance of flooding in any given year.  The area may be designated as Zone A 
on the FHBM.  After detailed ratemaking has been completed in preparation for publication of 
the FIRM, Zone A usually is refined into Zones A, AO, AH, A1-30, AE or A99. 
 
"Special Hazard Area" means an area having special flood, mudslide (i.e., mudflow) and/or 
flood-related erosion hazards, and shown on an FHBM or FIRM as Zone A, AO, A1-30, AE, 
A99, or AH. 
 
"Start of Construction" includes substantial improvement, and means the date the building 
permit was issued, provided the actual start of construction, repair, reconstruction, rehabilitation, 
addition, placement, or other improvement was within 180 days of the permit date.  The actual 
start means either the first placement of permanent construction of a structure (including a 
manufactured home) on a site, such as the pouring of slabs or footings, the installation of piles, 
the construction of columns, or any work beyond the stage of excavation; and includes the 
placement of a manufactured home on a foundation.  Permanent construction does not include 
initial land preparation, such as clearing, grading and filling; nor does it include the installation 
of streets and/or walkways; nor does it include excavation for a basement, footings, piers, or 
foundations or the erection of temporary forms; nor does it include the installation on the 
property of accessory buildings, such as garages or sheds, not occupied as dwelling units or not 
part of the main structure.  For a substantial improvement, the actual start of construction means 
the first alteration of any wall, ceiling, floor, or other structural part of a building, whether or not 
that alteration affects the external dimensions of the building. 
 

 7 



"State Coordinating Agency" the Tennessee Department of Economic and Community 
Development, as designated by the Governor of the State of Tennessee at the request of FEMA 
to assist in the implementation of the NFIP for the State. 
 
"Structure" for purposes of this Resolution, means a walled and roofed building, including a 
gas or liquid storage tank, which is principally above ground, as well as a manufactured home. 
 
"Substantial Damage" means damage of any origin sustained by a structure whereby the cost 
of restoring the structure to it’s before damaged condition would equal or exceed fifty percent 
(50%) of the market value of the structure before the damage occurred. 
 
"Substantial Improvement" means any reconstruction, rehabilitation, addition, alteration or 
other improvement of a structure in which the cost equals or exceeds fifty percent (50%) of the 
market value of the structure before the "start of construction" of the initial improvement.  This 
term includes structures which have incurred "substantial damage", regardless of the actual repair 
work performed. The market value of the structure should be (1) the appraised value of the 
structure prior to the start of the initial improvement, or (2) in the case of substantial damage, the 
value of the structure prior to the damage occurring.   
 
The term does not, however, include either: (1)  Any project for improvement of a structure to 
correct existing violations of State or local health, sanitary, or safety code specifications which 
have been pre-identified by the local code enforcement official and which are the minimum 
necessary to assure safe living conditions and not solely triggered by an improvement or repair 
project or;  (2) Any alteration of a "historic structure", provided that the alteration will not 
preclude the structure's continued designation as a "historic structure". 
 
"Substantially Improved Existing Manufactured Home Parks or Subdivisions" is where the 
repair, reconstruction, rehabilitation or improvement of the streets, utilities and pads equals or 
exceeds fifty percent (50%) of the value of the streets, utilities and pads before the repair, 
reconstruction or improvement commenced. 
 
"Variance" is a grant of relief from the requirements of this Resolution. 
 
"Violation" means the failure of a structure or other development to be fully compliant with the 
community's floodplain management regulations.  A structure or other development without the 
elevation certificate, other certification, or other evidence of compliance required in this 
Resolution is presumed to be in violation until such time as that documentation is provided. 
 
"Water Surface Elevation" means the height, in relation to the National Geodetic Vertical 
Datum (NGVD) of 1929, the North American Vertical Datum (NAVD) of 1988, or other datum, 
where specified, of floods of various magnitudes and frequencies in the floodplains of riverine 
areas. 
 
ARTICLE III GENERAL PROVISIONS 
 
Section A. Requirement for Development Permit 
 
A development permit shall be required in conformity with this Resolution prior to the 
commencement of any development activities. 
 
Section B. Compliance 
 
No land, structure or use shall hereafter be located, extended, converted or structurally altered 
without full compliance with the terms of this Resolution and other applicable regulations. 

 8 



Section C. Abrogation and Greater Restrictions 
 
This Resolution is not intended to repeal, abrogate, or impair any existing easements, covenants 
or deed restrictions.  However, where this Resolution conflicts or overlaps with another 
regulatory instrument, whichever imposes the more stringent restrictions shall prevail. 
 
 
Section D. Interpretation 
 
In the interpretation and application of this Resolution, all provisions shall be: (1) considered as 
minimum requirements; (2) liberally construed in favor of the governing body and; (3) deemed 
neither to limit nor repeal any other powers granted under Tennessee statutes. 
 
 
Section E. Warning and Disclaimer of Liability 
 
The degree of flood protection required by this Resolution is considered reasonable for 
regulatory purposes and is based on scientific and engineering considerations.  Larger floods can 
and will occur on rare occasions.  Flood heights may be increased by man-made or natural 
causes.  This Resolution does not imply that land outside the Areas of Special Flood Hazard or 
uses permitted within such areas will be free from flooding or flood damages.  This Resolution 
shall not create liability on the part of Hamilton County, Tennessee or by any officer or 
employee thereof for any flood damages that result from reliance on this Resolution or any 
administrative decision lawfully made hereunder. 
 
Section F. Penalties for Violation 
 
Violation of the provisions of this Resolution or failure to comply with any of its requirements, 
including violation of conditions and safeguards established in connection with grants of 
variance shall constitute a misdemeanor punishable as other misdemeanors as provided by law. 
Any person who violates this resolution or fails to comply with any of its requirements shall, 
upon adjudication therefore, be fined as prescribed by Tennessee statutes, and in addition, shall 
pay all costs and expenses involved in the case each day such violation continues shall be 
considered a separate offense.  Nothing herein contained shall prevent Hamilton County, 
Tennessee from taking such other lawful actions to prevent or remedy any violation. 
 
 
ARTICLE IV  ADMINISTRATION 
 
Section A. Designation of Resolution Administrator 
 
The Director of Building Inspection is hereby appointed as the Administrator to implement the 
provisions of this Resolution. 
 
 
Section B. Permit Procedures 
 
Application for a development permit shall be made to the Administrator on forms furnished by 
the community prior to any development activities.  The development permit may include, but is 
not limited to the following: plans in duplicate drawn to scale and showing the nature, location, 
dimensions, and elevations of the area in question; existing or proposed structures, earthen fill 
placement, storage of materials or equipment, and drainage facilities.  Specifically, the following 
information is required: 
 

 9 



1. Application stage 
 

a. Elevation in relation to mean sea level of the proposed lowest floor, 
including basement, of all buildings where Base Flood Elevations are 
available, or to certain height above the highest adjacent grade when 
applicable under this Resolution. 

 
b. Elevation in relation to mean sea level to which any non-residential 

building will be flood proofed where Base Flood Elevations are available, 
or to certain height above the highest adjacent grade when applicable 
under this Resolution. 

 
c. A FEMA Flood proofing Certificate from a Tennessee registered 

professional engineer or architect that the proposed non-residential flood 
proofed building will meet the flood proofing criteria in Article V, 
Sections A and B. 

 
d. Description of the extent to which any watercourse will be altered or 

relocated as a result of proposed development. 
 

 
2. Construction Stage 

 
Within AE Zones, where Base Flood Elevation data is available, any lowest floor 
certification made relative to mean sea level shall be prepared by or under the 
direct supervision of, a Tennessee registered land surveyor and certified by same.  
The Administrator shall record the elevation of the lowest floor on the 
development permit.  When flood proofing is utilized for a non-residential 
building, said certification shall be prepared by, or under the direct supervision of, 
a Tennessee registered professional engineer or architect and certified by same. 
 
Within approximate A Zones, where Base Flood Elevation data is not available, 
the elevation of the lowest floor shall be determined as the measurement of the 
lowest floor of the building relative to the highest adjacent grade.  The 
Administrator shall record the elevation of the lowest floor on the development 
permit.  When flood proofing is utilized for a non-residential building, said 
certification shall be prepared by, or under the direct supervision of, a Tennessee 
registered professional engineer or architect and certified by same. 

 
For all new construction and substantial improvements, the permit holder shall 
provide to the Administrator an as-built certification of the lowest floor elevation 
or flood proofing level upon the completion of the lowest floor or flood proofing. 

 
Any work undertaken prior to submission of the certification shall be at the permit 
holder's risk.  The Administrator shall review the above-referenced certification 
data.  Deficiencies detected by such review shall be corrected by the permit holder 
immediately and prior to further work being allowed to proceed.  Failure to 
submit the certification or failure to make said corrections required hereby shall 
be cause to issue a stop-work order for the project. 

 
 
Section C. Duties and Responsibilities of the Administrator 
 
Duties of the Administrator shall include, but not be limited to, the following: 

 10 



 
1. Review all development permits to assure that the permit requirements of this 

Resolution have been satisfied, and that proposed building sites will be reasonably 
safe from flooding. 

 
2. Review proposed development to assure that all necessary permits have been 

received from those governmental agencies from which approval is required by 
Federal or State law, including Section 404 of the Federal Water Pollution 
Control Act Amendments of 1972, 33 U.S.C. 1334. 

 
3. Notify adjacent communities and the Tennessee Department of Economic and 

Community Development, Local Planning Assistance Office, prior to any 
alteration or relocation of a watercourse and submit evidence of such notification 
to FEMA. 

 
4. For any altered or relocated watercourse, submit engineering data/analysis within 

six (6) months to FEMA to ensure accuracy of community FIRM’s through the 
Letter of Map Revision process.   

 
5. Assure that the flood carrying capacity within an altered or relocated portion of 

any watercourse is maintained. 
 
6. Record the elevation, in relation to mean sea level or the highest adjacent grade, 

where applicable, of the lowest floor (including basement) of all new and 
substantially improved buildings, in accordance with Article IV, Section B. 

 
7. Record the actual elevation, in relation to mean sea level or the highest adjacent 

grade, where applicable to which the new and substantially improved buildings 
have been floodproofed, in accordance with Article IV, Section B. 

 
8. When floodproofing is utilized for a nonresidential structure, obtain certification 

of design criteria from a Tennessee registered professional engineer or architect, 
in accordance with Article IV, Section B. 

 
9. Where interpretation is needed as to the exact location of boundaries of the Areas 

of Special Flood Hazard (for example, where there appears to be a conflict 
between a mapped boundary and actual field conditions), make the necessary 
interpretation.  Any person contesting the location of the boundary shall be given 
a reasonable opportunity to appeal the interpretation as provided in this 
Resolution. 

 
10. When Base Flood Elevation data and floodway data have not been provided by 

FEMA, obtain, review, and reasonably utilize any Base Flood Elevation and 
floodway data available from a Federal, State, or other sources, including data 
developed as a result of these regulations, as criteria for requiring that new 
construction, substantial improvements, or other development in Zone A on the 
Hamilton County, Tennessee FIRM meet the requirements of this Resolution. 

 
 

11. Maintain all records pertaining to the provisions of this Resolution in the office of 
the Administrator and shall be open for public inspection.  Permits issued under 
the provisions of this Resolution shall be maintained in a separate file or marked 
for expedited retrieval within combined files. 

 

 11 



 
ARTICLE V. PROVISIONS FOR FLOOD HAZARD REDUCTION 
 
Section A. General Standards 
 
In all areas of special flood hazard, the following provisions are required: 
 

1. New construction and substantial improvements shall be anchored to prevent 
flotation, collapse and lateral movement of the structure; 

 
2. Manufactured homes shall be installed using methods and practices that minimize 

flood damage.  They must be elevated and anchored to prevent flotation, collapse 
and lateral movement.  Methods of anchoring may include, but are not limited to, 
use of over-the-top or frame ties to ground anchors.  This requirement is in 
addition to applicable State of Tennessee and local anchoring requirements for 
resisting wind forces. 

 
3. New construction and substantial improvements shall be constructed with 

materials and utility equipment resistant to flood damage; 
 
4. New construction and substantial improvements shall be constructed by methods 

and practices that minimize flood damage; 
 
5. All electrical, heating, ventilation, plumbing, air conditioning equipment, and 

other service facilities shall be designed and/or located so as to prevent water 
from entering or accumulating within the components during conditions of 
flooding; 

 
6. New and replacement water supply systems shall be designed to minimize or 

eliminate infiltration of flood waters into the system; 
 
7. New and replacement sanitary sewage systems shall be designed to minimize or 

eliminate infiltration of flood waters into the systems and discharges from the 
systems into flood waters; 

 
8. On-site waste disposal systems shall be located and constructed to avoid 

impairment to them or contamination from them during flooding;  
 
9. Any alteration, repair, reconstruction or improvements to a building that is in 

compliance with the provisions of this Resolution, shall meet the requirements of 
"new construction" as contained in this Resolution; 

 
10. Any alteration, repair, reconstruction or improvements to a building that is not in 

compliance with the provision of this Resolution, shall be undertaken only if said 
non-conformity is not further extended or replaced; 

 
11. All new construction and substantial improvement proposals shall provide copies 

of all necessary Federal and State  permits, including Section 404 of the Federal 
Water Pollution Control Act amendments of 1972, 33 U.S.C. 1334; 

 
12. All subdivision proposals and other proposed new development proposals shall 

meet the standards of Article V, Section B; 
 

 12 



13. When proposed new construction and substantial improvements are partially 
located in an area of special flood hazard, the entire structure shall meet the 
standards for new construction;  

 
14. When proposed new construction and substantial improvements are located in 

multiple flood hazard risk zones or in a flood hazard risk zone with multiple Base 
Flood Elevations, the entire structure shall meet the standards for the most 
hazardous flood hazard risk zone and the highest Base Flood Elevation. 

 
 

Section B. Specific Standards 
 
In all Areas of Special Flood Hazard, the following provisions, in addition to those set forth in 
Article V, Section A, are required: 
 

1. Residential Structures   
 
 In AE Zones where Base Flood Elevation data is available, new construction and 

substantial improvement of any residential building (or manufactured home) shall 
have the lowest floor, including basement, elevated to no lower than one (1) foot 
above the Base Flood Elevation.  Should solid foundation perimeter walls be used 
to elevate a structure, openings sufficient to facilitate equalization of flood 
hydrostatic forces on both sides of exterior walls shall be provided in accordance 
with the standards of this section: “Enclosures”. 

 
Within approximate A Zones where Base Flood Elevations have not been 
established and where alternative data is not available, the administrator shall 
require the lowest floor of a building to be elevated to a level of at least three (3) 
feet above the highest adjacent grade (as defined in Article II). Should solid 
foundation perimeter walls be used to elevate a structure, openings sufficient to 
facilitate equalization of flood hydrostatic forces on both sides of exterior walls 
shall be provided in accordance with the standards of this section: Enclosures 

 
2. Non-Residential Structures 
 
 In AE Zones, where Base Flood Elevation data is available, new construction and 

substantial improvement of any commercial, industrial, or non-residential 
building shall have the lowest floor, including basement, elevated or flood 
proofed to no lower than one (1) foot above the level of the Base Flood Elevation.  
Should solid foundation perimeter walls be used to elevate a structure, openings 
sufficient to facilitate equalization of flood hydrostatic forces on both sides of 
exterior walls shall be provided in accordance with the standards of this section: 
Enclosures 

 
In approximate A Zones, where Base Flood Elevations have not been established 
and where alternative data is not available, new construction and substantial 
improvement of any commercial, industrial, or non-residential building, shall 
have the lowest floor, including basement, elevated or flood proofed to no lower 
than three (3) feet above the highest adjacent grade (as defined in Article II).  
Should solid foundation perimeter walls be used to elevate a structure, openings 
sufficient to facilitate equalization of flood hydrostatic forces on both sides of 
exterior walls shall be provided in accordance with the standards of this section: 
Enclosures 

 

 13 



Non-Residential buildings located in all A Zones may be flood proofed, in lieu of 
being elevated, provided that all areas of the building below the required elevation 
are watertight, with walls substantially impermeable to the passage of water, and 
are built with structural components having the capability of resisting hydrostatic 
and hydrodynamic loads and the effects of buoyancy.  A Tennessee registered 
professional engineer or architect shall certify that the design and methods of 
construction are in accordance with accepted standards of practice for meeting the 
provisions above, and shall provide such certification to the Administrator as set 
forth in Article IV, Section B. 

 
3. Enclosures 
 
 All new construction and substantial improvements that include fully enclosed 

areas formed by foundation and other exterior walls below the lowest floor that 
are subject to flooding, shall be designed to preclude finished living space and 
designed to allow for the entry and exit of flood waters to automatically equalize 
hydrostatic flood forces on exterior walls. 

 
a. Designs for complying with this requirement must either be certified by a 

Tennessee professional engineer or architect or meet or exceed the 
following minimum criteria. 

 
1) Provide a minimum of two openings having a total net area of not 

less than one (1) square inch for every square foot of enclosed area 
subject to flooding; 

 
2) The bottom of all openings shall be no higher than one (1) foot 

above the finished grade;  
 
3) Openings may be equipped with screens, louvers, valves or other 

coverings or devices provided they permit the automatic flow of 
floodwaters in both directions. 

 
b. The enclosed area shall be the minimum necessary to allow for parking of 

vehicles, storage or building access. 
 

c. The interior portion of such enclosed area shall not be finished or 
partitioned into separate rooms in such a way as to impede the movement 
of floodwaters and all such partitions shall comply with the provisions of 
Article V, Section B.  

 
4. Standards for Manufactured Homes and Recreational Vehicles 

 
a. All manufactured homes placed, or substantially improved, on: (1) 

individual lots or parcels, (2) in expansions to existing manufactured home 
parks or subdivisions, or (3) in new or substantially improved 
manufactured home parks or subdivisions, must meet all the requirements 
of new construction. 

 
b. All manufactured homes placed or substantially improved in an existing 

manufactured home park or subdivision must be elevated so that either: 
 

1) In AE Zones, with Base Flood Elevations, the lowest floor of the 
manufactured home is elevated on a permanent foundation to no 

 14 



lower than one (1) foot above the level of the Base Flood Elevation 
or 

 
2) In approximate A Zones, without Base Flood Elevations, the 

manufactured home chassis is elevated and supported by 
reinforced piers (or other foundation elements of at least equivalent 
strength) that are at least three (3) feet in height above the highest 
adjacent grade (as defined in Article II). 

 
c. Any manufactured home, which has incurred “substantial damage” as the 

result of a flood, must meet the standards of Article V, Sections A and B. 
 
d. All manufactured homes must be securely anchored to an adequately 

anchored foundation system to resist flotation, collapse and lateral 
movement. 

 
e. All recreational vehicles placed in an identified Special Flood Hazard 

Area must either: 
 

1) Be on the site for fewer than 180 consecutive days; 
 
2) Be fully licensed and ready for highway use (a recreational vehicle 

is ready for highway use if it is licensed, on its wheels or jacking 
system, attached to the site only by quick disconnect type utilities 
and security devices, and has no permanently attached structures or 
additions), or; 

 
3) The recreational vehicle must meet all the requirements for new 

construction. 
 

5. Standards for Subdivisions and Other Proposed New Development Proposals 
 

Subdivisions and other proposed new developments, including manufactured 
home parks, shall be reviewed to determine whether such proposals will be 
reasonably safe from flooding.   

 
a. All subdivision and other proposed new development proposals shall be 

consistent with the need to minimize flood damage. 
 
b. All subdivision and other proposed new development proposals shall have 

public utilities and facilities such as sewer, gas, electrical and water 
systems located and constructed to minimize or eliminate flood damage. 

 
c. All subdivision and other proposed new development proposals shall have 

adequate drainage provided to reduce exposure to flood hazards. 
 
d.  In all approximate A Zones require that all new subdivision proposals and 

other proposed developments (including proposals for manufactured home 
parks and subdivisions) greater than 50 lots or 5 acres, whichever is the 
lesser, include within such proposals Base Flood Elevation data (See 
Article V, Section E). 

 
 

 15 



Section C. Standards for Special Flood Hazard Areas with Established Base Flood 
Elevations and With Floodways Designated 

 
Located within the Special Flood Hazard Areas established in Article III, Section B, are areas 
designated as floodways.  A floodway may be an extremely hazardous area due to the velocity of 
floodwaters, debris or erosion potential.  In addition, the area must remain free of encroachment 
in order to allow for the discharge of the base flood without increased flood heights and 
velocities.  Therefore, the following provisions shall apply: 
 

1. Encroachments are prohibited, including earthen fill material, new construction, 
substantial improvements or other development within the regulatory floodway.  
Development may be permitted however, provided it is demonstrated through 
hydrologic and hydraulic analyses performed in accordance with standard 
engineering practices that the cumulative effect of the proposed encroachments or 
new development shall not result in any increase in the water surface elevation of 
the Base Flood Elevation, velocities, or floodway widths during the occurrence of 
a base flood discharge at any point within the community.  A Tennessee 
registered professional engineer must provide supporting technical data, using the 
same methodologies as in the effective Flood Insurance Study for Hamilton 
County, Tennessee and certification, thereof. 

 
2. New construction and substantial improvements of buildings, where permitted, 

shall comply with all applicable flood hazard reduction provisions of Article V, 
Sections A and B. 

 
 

Section D. Standards for Areas of Special Flood Hazard Zones AE with Established 
Base Flood Elevations but Without Floodways Designated 

 
Located within the Special Flood Hazard Areas established in Article III, Section B, where 
streams exist with base flood data provided but where no floodways have been designated 
(Zones AE), the following provisions apply: 
 

1. No encroachments, including fill material, new construction and substantial 
improvements shall be located within areas of special flood hazard, unless 
certification by a Tennessee registered professional engineer is provided 
demonstrating that the cumulative effect of the proposed development, when 
combined with all other existing and anticipated development, will not increase 
the water surface elevation of the base flood more than one (1) foot at any point 
within the community.  The engineering certification should be supported by 
technical data that conforms to standard hydraulic engineering principles. 

 
2. New construction and substantial improvements of buildings, where permitted, 

shall comply with all applicable flood hazard reduction provisions of Article V, 
Sections A and B. 

 
 
Section E.   Standards for Streams without Established Base Flood Elevations and 

Floodways (A Zones) 
 
Located within the Special Flood Hazard Areas established in Article III, Section B, where 
streams exist, but no base flood data has been provided and where a Floodway has not been 
delineated, the following provisions shall apply: 

 16 



 
1. The Administrator shall obtain, review, and reasonably utilize any Base Flood 

Elevation and floodway data available from any Federal, State, or other sources, 
including data developed as a result of these regulations (see 2 below), as criteria 
for requiring that new construction, substantial improvements, or other 
development in approximate A Zones meet the requirements of Article V, 
Sections A and B. 

 
2. Require that all new subdivision proposals and other proposed developments 

(including proposals for manufactured home parks and subdivisions) greater than 
50 lots or 5 acres, whichever is the lesser, include within such proposals Base 
Flood Elevation data. 

 
3. Within approximate A Zones, where Base Flood Elevations have not been 

established and where such data is not available from other sources, require the 
lowest floor of a building to be elevated or flood proofed to a level of at least 
three (3) feet above the highest adjacent grade (as defined in Article II). All 
applicable data including elevations or flood proofing certifications shall be 
recorded as set forth in Article IV, Section B.  Openings sufficient to facilitate 
automatic equalization of hydrostatic flood forces on exterior walls shall be 
provided in accordance with the standards of Article V, Section B. 

 
4. Within approximate A Zones, where Base Flood Elevations have not been 

established and where such data is not available from other sources, no 
encroachments, including structures or fill material, shall be located within an 
area equal to the width of the stream or twenty feet (20), whichever is greater, 
measured from the top of the stream bank, unless certification by a Tennessee 
registered professional engineer is provided demonstrating that the cumulative 
effect of the proposed development, when combined with all other existing and 
anticipated development, will not increase the water surface elevation of the base 
flood more than one (1) foot at any point within Hamilton County, Tennessee.  
The engineering certification should be supported by technical data that conforms 
to standard hydraulic engineering principles. 

 
5. New construction and substantial improvements of buildings, where permitted, 

shall comply with all applicable flood hazard reduction provisions of Article V, 
Sections A and B.  Within approximate A Zones, require that those subsections of 
Article V Section B dealing with the alteration or relocation of a watercourse, 
assuring watercourse carrying capacities are maintained and manufactured homes 
provisions are complied with as required.   

 
 
Section F. Standards For Areas of Shallow Flooding (AO and AH Zones) 
 
Located within the Special Flood Hazard Areas established in Article III, Section B, are areas 
designated as shallow flooding areas.  These areas have special flood hazards associated with 
base flood depths of one (1) to three (3) feet where a clearly defined channel does not exist and 
where the path of flooding is unpredictable and indeterminate; therefore, the following 
provisions, in addition to those set forth in Article V, Sections A and B, apply: 
 

1. All new construction and substantial improvements of residential and non-
residential buildings shall have the lowest floor, including basement, elevated to 
at least one (1) foot above as many feet as the depth number specified on the 

 17 



FIRM’s, in feet, above the highest adjacent grade.  If no flood depth number is 
specified on the FIRM, the lowest floor, including basement, shall be elevated to 
at least three (3) feet above the highest adjacent grade.  Openings sufficient to 
facilitate automatic equalization of hydrostatic flood forces on exterior walls shall 
be provided in accordance with standards of Article V, Section B. 

 
2. All new construction and substantial improvements of non-residential buildings 

may be flood proofed in lieu of elevation.  The structure together with attendant 
utility and sanitary facilities must be flood proofed and designed watertight to be 
completely flood proofed to at least one (1) foot above the flood depth number 
specified on the FIRM, with walls substantially impermeable to the passage of 
water and with structural components having the capability of resisting 
hydrostatic and hydrodynamic loads and the effects of buoyancy. If no depth 
number is specified on the FIRM, the structure shall be flood proofed to at least 
three (3) feet above the highest adjacent grade.  A Tennessee registered 
professional engineer or architect shall certify that the design and methods of 
construction are in accordance with accepted standards of practice for meeting the 
provisions of this Resolution and shall provide such certification to the 
Administrator as set forth above and as required in accordance with Article IV, 
Section B. 

 
3. Adequate drainage paths shall be provided around slopes to guide floodwaters 

around and away from proposed structures. 
 
 

 
 
Section G. Standards For Areas Protected by Flood Protection System (A-99 Zones) 
 
Located within the Areas of Special Flood Hazard established in Article III, Section B, are areas 
of the 100-year floodplain protected by a flood protection system but where Base Flood 
Elevations have not been determined.  Within these areas (A-99 Zones) all provisions of Article 
IV and Article V shall apply. 
 
 
Section H. Standards for Unmapped Streams 
 
Located within Hamilton County, Tennessee, are unmapped streams where areas of special flood 
hazard are neither indicated nor identified.  Adjacent to such streams, the following provisions 
shall apply: 
 

1. No encroachments including fill material or other development including 
structures shall be located within an area of at least equal to twice the width of the 
stream, measured from the top of each stream bank, unless certification by a 
Tennessee registered professional engineer is provided demonstrating that the 
cumulative effect of the proposed development, when combined with all other 
existing and anticipated development, will not increase the water surface 
elevation of the base flood more than one (1) foot at any point within the locality. 

 
2. When a new flood hazard risk zone, and Base Flood Elevation and floodway data 

is available, new construction and substantial improvements shall meet the 
standards established in accordance with Articles IV and V. 

 
 

 18 



ARTICLE VI. VARIANCE PROCEDURES 

Section A. Hamilton County Board of Zoning Appeals 

1. Authority 
 

The Hamilton County, Tennessee Board of Zoning Appeals shall hear and decide 
appeals and requests for variances from the requirements of this Resolution.   

 
2. Procedure 
 

Meetings of the Hamilton County Board of Zoning Appeals shall be held at such 
times, as the Board shall determine.  All meetings of the Hamilton County Board 
of Zoning Appeals shall be open to the public.  The Hamilton County Board of 
Zoning Appeals shall adopt rules of procedure and shall keep records of 
applications and actions thereof, which shall be a public record.  Compensation of 
the members of the Hamilton County Board of Zoning Appeals shall be set by the 
Legislative Body. 

 
3. Appeals:  How Taken 
 

An appeal to the Hamilton County Board of Zoning Appeals may be taken by any 
person, firm or corporation aggrieved or by any governmental officer, department, 
or bureau affected by any decision of the Administrator based in whole or in part 
upon the provisions of this Resolution.  Such appeal shall be taken by filing with 
the Hamilton County Board of Zoning Appeals a notice of appeal, specifying the 
grounds thereof.  In all cases where an appeal is made by a property owner or 
other interested party, a fee of $50.00 dollars for the cost of publishing a notice of 
such hearings shall be paid by the appellant.  The Administrator shall transmit to 
the Hamilton County Board of Zoning Appeals all papers constituting the record 
upon which the appeal action was taken.  The Hamilton County Board of Zoning 
Appeals shall fix a reasonable time for the hearing of the appeal, give public 
notice thereof, as well as due notice to parties in interest and decide the same 
within a reasonable time which shall not be more than 10 days from the date of 
the hearing.  At the hearing, any person or party may appear and be heard in 
person or by agent or by attorney. 

 
4. Powers 
 

The Hamilton County Board of Zoning Appeals shall have the following powers: 
 
a. Administrative Review 

 
To hear and decide appeals where it is alleged by the applicant that there is 
error in any order, requirement, permit, decision, determination, or refusal 
made by the Administrator or other administrative official in carrying out 
or enforcement of any provisions of this Resolution.  

b. Variance Procedures 
 

In the case of a request for a variance the following shall apply: 
 

 19 



1) The Hamilton County, Tennessee Board of Zoning Appeals shall 
hear and decide appeals and requests for variances from the 
requirements of this Resolution. 

 
2) Variances may be issued for the repair or rehabilitation of historic 

structures as defined, herein, upon a determination that the 
proposed repair or rehabilitation will not preclude the structure's 
continued designation as a historic structure and the variance is the 
minimum necessary deviation from the requirements of this 
Resolution to preserve the historic character and design of the 
structure. 

 
3) In passing upon such applications, the Hamilton County Board of 

Zoning Appeals shall consider all technical evaluations, all 
relevant factors, all standards specified in other sections of this 
Resolution, and: 

 
a) The danger that materials may be swept onto other property 

to the injury of others; 
 
b) The danger to life and property due to flooding or erosion; 
 
c) The susceptibility of the proposed facility and its contents 

to flood damage; 
 

d) The importance of the services provided by the proposed 
facility to the community; 

 
e) The necessity of the facility to a waterfront location, in the 

case of a functionally dependent use; 
 
f) The availability of alternative locations, not subject to 

flooding or erosion damage, for the proposed use; 
 
g) The relationship of the proposed use to the comprehensive 

plan and floodplain management program for that area; 
 
h) The safety of access to the property in times of flood for 

ordinary and emergency vehicles; 
 
i) The expected heights, velocity, duration, rate of rise and 

sediment transport of the flood waters and the effects of 
wave action, if applicable, expected at the site; 

 
j) The costs of providing governmental services during and 

after flood conditions including maintenance and repair of 
public utilities and facilities such as sewer, gas, electrical, 
water systems, and streets and bridges. 

 
4) Upon consideration of the factors listed above, and the purposes of 

this Resolution, the Hamilton County Board of Zoning Appeals 
may attach such conditions to the granting of variances, as it deems 
necessary to effectuate the purposes of this Resolution. 

 

 20 



5) Variances shall not be issued within any designated floodway if 
any increase in flood levels during the base flood discharge would 
result. 

 
 
Section B. Conditions for Variances 
 

1. Variances shall be issued upon a determination that the variance is the minimum 
relief necessary, considering the flood hazard and the factors listed in Article VI, 
Section A.   

 
2. Variances shall only be issued upon: a showing of good and sufficient cause, a 

determination that failure to grant the variance would result in exceptional 
hardship; or a determination that the granting of a variance will not result in 
increased flood heights, additional threats to public safety, extraordinary public 
expense, create nuisance, cause fraud on or victimization of the public, or conflict 
with existing local laws or Resolutions. 

 
3. Any applicant to whom a variance is granted shall be given written notice that the 

issuance of a variance to construct a structure below the Base Flood Elevation 
will result in increased premium rates for flood insurance (as high as $25 for 
$100) coverage, and that such construction below the Base Flood Elevation 
increases risks to life and property. 

 
4. The Administrator shall maintain the records of all appeal actions and report any 

variances to FEMA upon request. 
 
 
ARTICLE VII. LEGAL STATUS PROVISIONS 

Section A. Conflict with Other Resolutions 
 
In case of conflict between this Resolution or any part thereof, and the whole or part of any 
existing or future Resolution of Hamilton County, Tennessee, the most restrictive shall in all 
cases apply. 
 
 
Section B. Severability 
If any section, clause, provision, or portion of this Resolution shall be held to be invalid or 
unconstitutional by any court of competent jurisdiction, such holding shall not affect any other 
section, clause, provision, or portion of this Resolution which is not of itself invalid or 
unconstitutional. 
 

 21 



No. 915-31 
 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 

Hamilton County 

 

 
September 16, 2015 
Date (Month, Day, Year) 

 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 

RESOLUTION 

 
 
A RESOLUTION APPROVING THE AMENDING OF A CERTAIN PAYMENT IN 
LIEU OF TAXES (“PILOT”) AGREEMENT WITH ALSTOM POWER, INC.  
 

WHEREAS,  by Resolution No. 608-44, this county legislative body 
expressed its approval of a certain Payment In Lieu Of 
Taxes (“PILOT”) Agreement which was entered into on 
or about March 30, 2008, among Hamilton County, 
Tennessee, the City of Chattanooga, the Industrial 
Development Board for the City of Chattanooga, 
Tennessee, and Alstom Power, Inc.; and  

 
WHEREAS,  certain changes to said PILOT Agreement as reflected in 

the attached Letter of Agreement have been negotiated 
among said parties to properly reflect the current status 
of Alstom as compared to the terms and conditions 
required pursuant to said PILOT Agreement; and  

 
WHEREAS,  this county legislative body feels that said amendment is 

in the best interest of the citizens of Hamilton County, 
and should therefore be approved. 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY 
IN SESSION ASSEMBLED: 
 

That the Letter of Agreement attached hereto reflecting certain modifications to 
that certain Payment In Lieu of Taxes (“PILOT”) Agreement as was entered 
into among Hamilton County, Tennessee, the City of Chattanooga, the  
 
 
 
 



 

 

Industrial Development Board for the City of Chattanooga, Tennessee, and 
Alstom Power, Inc., on or about March 30, 2008, be approved. 
 
 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM 
AND AFTER ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT. 
 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 

 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 

 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

September 16, 2015 

  
Date 

 









No. 915-32 
 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 

Hamilton County 

 

 
September 16, 2015 
Date (Month, Day, Year) 

 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 

RESOLUTION 

 
 

 A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE COUNTY MAYOR TO SIGN AN 
AGREEMENT  IN THE AMOUNT OF $32,600 WITH THE SCENIC CITIES 
BEAUTIFUL COMMISSION TO PROVIDE LITTER PREVENTION EDUCATION 
SERVICES WITH A CONTRACT PERIOD BEGINNING JULY 01, 2015 AND 
ENDING JUNE 30, 2016. 

 
  WHEREAS, Hamilton County has been awarded a grant from the Tennessee  

     Department of Transportation (TDOT) for the prevention and collection 
      litter and trash; and, 

     
 WHEREAS, TDOT requires the County to designate $32,600 of said grant  

  funds toward litter prevention education; and, 
    

WHEREAS, certain technical services are required to perform and administer a  litter 
prevention education program; and, 

 
 WHEREAS, the Scenic Cities Beautiful Commission (SCBC) is capable of  

  providing such technical support and has been approved by TDOT; and, 
 
 WHEREAS,  SCBC has agreed to provide these services at a cost not to exceed  

  $32,600; 
 
  NOW, THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE  

   BODY IN SESSION ASSEMBLED: 
 

The County Mayor is hereby authorized to execute an agreement (copy available upon 
request) with the Scenic Cities Beautiful Commission upon the terms and conditions 
contained therein for an amount not to exceed $32,600 to provide litter prevention 
education services with a contract period beginning July 01, 2015 and ending June 30, 
2016. 

 



 

 

  BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT  
   AT AND FROM ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT. 

 
 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 

 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 

 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

September 16, 2015 

  
Date 

 









No. 915-33 
 

 

 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 

Hamilton County 

 

 
September 16, 2015 
Date (Month, Day, Year) 

 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 

RESOLUTION 

 
 
A RESOLUTION ACCEPTING THE BIDS OF HENRY SCHEIN, INC., MIDWEST MEDICAL 
SUPPLY COMPANY, LLC (MMS), SCIENTIFIC SALES, INC. AND QUADMED FOR ONE (1) 
YEAR CONTRACT PRICING, BEGINNING SEPTEMBER 16, 2015, THROUGH SEPTEMBER 15, 
2016, FOR EMS/HI-RISK MEDICAL GLOVES AND BLOODBORNE PATHOGEN PERSONAL 
PROTECTION EQUIPMENT FOR EMERGENCY MEDICAL SERVICES AND AUTHORIZING 
THE COUNTY MAYOR TO SIGN ANY CONTRACTS NECESSARY TO IMPLEMENT THIS 
RESOLUTION. 
 
WHEREAS, bids were received in response to public advertisement for contract unit pricing for 

medical gloves and bloodborne pathogen personal protection equipment for 
Emergency Medical Services; and, 

 
WHEREAS, the bids from Henry Schein, Inc., Midwest Medical Supply, LLC (MMS), Scientific 

Sales, Inc., and Quadmed were considered to be the lowest and best bids received; and, 
 
WHEREAS, there are sufficient previously budgeted funds available (for projects funded through 

the operating budget) and sufficient allocated funds available to the requisitioning 
department from bond proceeds (for projects funded from bond proceeds). 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY, IN SESSION 
ASSEMBLED: 
 
That the bids of Henry Schein, Inc., Midwest Medical Supply, LLC (MMS), Scientific Sales, Inc., and 
Quadmed for one (1) year contract unit pricing, beginning September 16, 2015, through September 15, 
2016, for medical gloves and bloodborne pathogen personal protection equipment for Emergency 
Medical Services are hereby accepted, said bids being the lowest and best bids received, and 
authorizing the County Mayor to sign any contracts necessary to implement this resolution. 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM AND AFTER 
ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT.  
 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 

 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 

 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

September 16, 2015 

  
Date 

 







































No. 915-34 
 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 

Hamilton County 

 

 
September 16, 2015 
Date (Month, Day, Year) 

 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 

RESOLUTION 

 
 
A RESOLUTION ACCEPTING THE RETURN TO THE FUND BALANCE OF THE 
HAMILTON COUNTY GENERAL FUND OF THE ONE HUNDRED THOUSAND 
DOLLAR ($100,000.00) APPROPRIATION FOR DISCRETIONARY SPENDING AS 
PREVIOUSLY ALLOTTED TO COUNTY COMMISSION DISTRICT SIX(6), AND 
AUTHORIZING THE RECEIPT OF SAME.   
 

WHEREAS,  by previous resolution this county legislative body authorized 
the appropriation of One Hundred Thousand Dollars 
($100,000.00) to each Hamilton County Commission District to 
be used for discretionary spending by the respective 
Commissioner; and  

 
WHEREAS, The County was required to use existing fund balance of the 

General Fund for the FY 2015-2016 appropriation of the 
discretionary funds;   

 
WHEREAS,  Joe Graham, as Commissioner for District Six, has voiced his 

disapproval of said use of fund balance, and has expressed his 
unwillingness to allocate fund balance from the General Fund to 
enable the discretionary spending, desiring rather that said funds 
remain in the Hamilton County general fund for appropriation to 
needed projects throughout the County when and if authorized; 
and  

 
WHEREAS,  the County’s acceptance of said previously appropriated funds 

requires the approval and acceptance of this county legislative 
body, and a modification to the County’s 2015-2016 fiscal year 
budget; and  

 
WHEREAS,  the retention of said funds for later appropriation to the needs of 

this County as may be authorized by further action of this county 



 

 

legislative body is in the best interest of the citizens of this 
County. 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY 
IN SESSION ASSEMBLED: 
 

That the One Hundred Thousand Dollar ($100,000.00) discretionary funds as 
allotted to County Commission District Six from the fund balance of the 
General Fund, as approved in the 2015-2016 fiscal year budget, be and hereby 
is approved and accepted; and said funds shall be returned to the Hamilton 
County General Fund (commonly referred to as “The Rainy Day Fund”) until 
further action as may be authorized by this county legislative body. 
 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM 
AND AFTER ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT. 
 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 

 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 

 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

September 16, 2015 

  
Date 

 


	9-16-15 Public Agenda Revised 
	915-_S_Minutes_Recessed Meeting - August 26, 2015 _1808_08-26-15 Recessed
	915-_S_Minutes_Agenda Session - August 26, 2015 _1809_08-26-15 Agenda
	915-_S_Minutes_Regular Meeting - September 2, 2015 _1810_09-02-15 Regular
	915-_S_Report_Order of Designation Planning Commission - Todd Leamon - September 14, 2015_1815_Order of Designation Todd Leamon 9-14-15
	915-21_R_Bill Knowles_Notary_1807_09-16-15
	915-21_S_Bill Knowles_Notary_1807_09-16-15A
	915-22A_R_Zoning_Zoning_1802_915A
	915-22A_S_Zoning_Zoning_1802_0768_001
	915-22B_R_Zoning_Zoning_1803_915B
	915-22B_S_Zoning_Zoning_1803_0768_001
	915-22C_R_Zoning Committee_Zoning Committee_1816_915C
	915-22C_S_Zoning Committee_Zoning Committee_1816_0768_001
	915-23_R_Commissioner Fairbanks_Appropriation for Dallas Bay Volunteer Fire Department_1792_Comm Fairbanks Dallas Bay VFD
	915-24_R_Commissioner Fairbanks_Appropriation to Orange Grove Center_1793_Comm Fairbanks Orange Grove
	915-24_S_Commissioner Fairbanks_Appropriation to Orange Grove Center_1793_0402_001
	915-25_R_Commissioner Fairbanks_Appropriation for Mowbray Volunteer Fire Department_1794_Comm Fairbanks Mowbray VFD
	915-26_R_Commissioner Mackey_Appropriation to East Lake Neighborhood Association_1800_Comm Mackey East Lake
	915-26_S_Commissioner Mackey_Appropriation to East Lake Neighborhood Association_1800_0435_001
	915-27_R_Commissioner Turner-Smedley_Appropriation to Veterans Memorial Park of Collegedale_1801_Comm Smedley Veterans Mem Park
	915-27_S_Commissioner Turner-Smedley_Appropriation to Veterans Memorial Park of Collegedale_1801_0436_001
	915-28_R_Commissioner Bankston_Appropriation to The Next Door Inc_1811_Comm Bankston Next Door
	915-28_S_Commissioner Bankston_Appropriation to The Next Door Inc_1811_0473_001
	915-29_R_County Mayor_United Way_1799_United Way2.
	915-30_R_Todd Leamon_New FEMA Flood Map adoption_1798_NEW FEMA MAP ADOPTION RESOLUTION
	915-30_S_Todd Leamon_New FEMA Flood Map adoption_1798_ARTICLE II - Flood Map Adoption
	915-31_R_Rheubin Taylor_Amendment to the Alstom Power Pilot_1805_Resolution Amending the Alstom Pilot
	915-31_S_Rheubin Taylor_Amendment to the Alstom Power Pilot_1805_Alstom Amendment Attachment
	915-32_R_Don Allen_Scenic Cities Beautiful Commission_1796_08242015 Scenic Cities Beautiful Agreement
	915-32_S_Don Allen_Scenic Cities Beautiful Commission_1796_Scenic Cities Beautiful Commission Agreement
	915-33_R_Don Allen_Medical Gloves and Bloodborne Pathogen Personal Protection Equipment_1806_RES. MEDICAL GLOVES & BLOODBORNE PPE
	915-33_S_Don Allen_Medical Gloves and Bloodborne Pathogen Personal Protection Equipment_1806_Hi-Risk EMS Medical Gloves & Bloodborne Pathogen PPE
	915-34_R_Rheubin Taylor_Return of Discretionary spending funds previously allotted to County Commission District Six_1817_Return of Discretionary Funds From District 6

